Selective Maintenance for Multi-state Systems Considering Dependence

by

Cuong Duc Dao

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

ENGINEERING MANAGEMENT

Department of Mechanical Engineering University of Alberta

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Cuong Duc Dao, 2016

ABSTRACT

Industrial organizations rely on the safe and efficient operation of their assets to manufacture products and provide services with high quality. As a result of widespread mechanization, maintenance costs have increased significantly over the years. Maintenance is essential to keeping engineering systems (mechanical equipment, vehicles, electrical devices, etc.) reliable at minimum costs. Due to limited resources, e.g. budget, time, it may not be possible to do all desirable maintenance actions. In this context, the maintenance manager has to decide which subsystems or components should be maintained in order to meet the requirements on system's performance. This problem is called selective maintenance.

In traditional reliability theory, the system is considered to be in two possible states of perfect functioning or failed. However, in practice, many systems can degrade and operate in an intermediate working state. As the system deteriorates, its performance may be in several states varying from perfect functioning to complete failure. Such a system is called multi-state system. When the system and its components are multi-state, the decision making becomes more complicated since imperfect maintenance actions to its intermediate levels are also possible. The maintenance manager has to decide which components to be maintained and the state levels that they should be maintained to.

Existing selective maintenance models usually assume the components to work in a stable condition without considering the inter-relationships between them when maintenance activities are performed as well as when the system is running. However, components interact with each other due to several reasons. For example, the failure of a component may create fire and cause immediate failures of other components due to an induced failure mode, or the performance of a component may dictate the degradation of other components in a specific system design.

This PhD research aims to study selective maintenance modeling for complex systems, specifically selective maintenance for systems with multiple working levels, while considering dependent relationships in the system. This research tackles the maintenance problem when resources are limited by providing maintenance strategies using both systems performance requirements and maintenance resources as input information. Several types of relationships of components in the systems are modelled as follows.

- i. When maintaining several components simultaneously, there are savings due to the sharing of resources, e.g. materials, tool, manpower, etc.
- ii. In a complex system structure, repairing a component requires actions on other components.

- iii. The current health state of a component may affect the performance and degradation of other components.
- iv. The degradation rate of a component may change depending on the operating conditions and its current health state.

This research proposes maintenance models for multi-state systems with dependence, which is one of the most challenging topics in the field of reliability and maintainability. It has significant contributions in terms of dependence modelling, reliability analysis, and selective maintenance optimization of multi-state systems. The results can be applied in a wide range of industries where physical mechanical systems exist and maintenance for them is compulsory. The maintenance models not only provide decision makers with a set of maintenance actions to ensure reliable and cost-effective operation of the systems, but also help them wisely utilize their available resources.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and sincere thanks to my academic supervisor, Dr. Ming J. Zuo, for his valuable guidance and constant support through my PhD study. His knowledge and logical thinking have helped me improve my research skills and inspired me to pursue further academic exploration. It is a great honor to work with him over the past four and haft years.

Sincere appreciation is expressed to Dr. John Doucette, Dr. Zhigang Tian, Dr. Armann Ingolfsson, and Dr. Mustapha Nourelfath for their kindness to serve as examination committee members. They have provided many constructive comments and valuable suggestions to the completion of this thesis.

I would like to thank faculty members, staffs, and friends in the Mechanical Engineering Department, especially all members of the Reliability Research Lab for their help and support during my study. Because of them, the time spending at University of Alberta will be a memorable period of my life.

Finally, I am grateful to my parents for their continuous encouragement. Special thanks to my beloved wife, Huong Nguyen, and my lovely son Minh Dao and daughter Michelle Dao, for their endless love and support. This work is dedicated to them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Systems and components4
1.2 Reliability and maintenance5
1.2.1 Reliability
1.2.2 Maintenance
1.3 Dependence and maintenance7
1.4 Selective maintenance10
1.5 Thesis scope and objectives11
1.6 Organization of the thesis13
CHAPTER 2 FUNDAMENTALS OF SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE
General notation:
2.1 Basic concepts

2.1.1 Mission and maintenance break
2.1.2 Mission reliability
2.1.3 Maintenance resources
2.1.4 States of components at the maintenance depot19
2.1.5 Selective maintenance strategy
2.2 Selective maintenance problem statement
2.3 Literature review on selective maintenance
2.3.1 Selective maintenance for binary systems
2.3.2 Selective maintenance for multi-state systems
2.3.3 Solution methodologies for selective maintenance optimization24
2.4 A general selective maintenance optimization model
2.5 Concluding remarks
CHAPTER 3 SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE SYSTEMS UNDER ECONOMIC DEPENDENCE
3.1 Introduction28
3.2 Problem formulation
3.2.1 The system descriptions
3.2.2 The system reliability

3.2.3 The system repair time and cost
3.2.4 Selective maintenance optimization models
3.3 Solution approach
3.3.1 Solution representation
3.3.2 General procedure and implementation of GA51
3.4 Illustrative examples, results and discussion
3.5 Concluding remarks
CHAPTER 4 SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE SYSTEMS WITH STRUCTURAL DEPENDENCE
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Literature review
4.3 Problem formulation70
4.3.1 The system model70
4.3.2 Component state distribution and the system reliability
4.3.3 Maintenance cost and time73
4.3.4 Selective maintenance optimization model
4.4 Examples, results and analysis
4.4.1 Example 4.1

4.4.2 Example 4.2
4.5 Concluding remarks
CHAPTER 5 SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE SYSTEMS WITH STOCHASTIC DEPENDENT COMPONENTS
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Multi-state systems with s-dependent components
5.3 Multi-state system reliability analysis102
5.3.1 Multi-state systems with independent components
5.3.2 Modeling two types of s-dependence of components104
5.3.3 The system reliability109
5.4 Selective maintenance model118
5.4.1 Maintenance actions on a multi-state component
5.4.2 MSS profit and cost evaluation121
5.4.3 Selective maintenance modeling and solution methodology124
5.5 Examples, results, and discussions126
5.5.1 Example 5.1
5.5.2 Example 5.2
5.6 Concluding remarks135

CHAPTER 6 OPTIMAL SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE
SYSTEMS IN DYNAMIC LOADING CONDITIONS136
6.1 Introduction137
6.2 The system model and the dynamic loading conditions140
6.2.1 Multi-state system model140
6.2.2 Dynamic loading conditions141
6.3 System reliability analysis143
6.3.1 Multi-state component degradation143
6.3.2 Component degradation and failure of a k -out-of- n load-sharing system 146
6.3.3 Monte-Carlo simulation method for system reliability estimation148
6.4 Selective maintenance model152
6.4.1 Maintenance resources153
6.4.2 Selective maintenance optimization model154
6.5 Numerical example and results156
6.5.1 Results on the system reliability estimation158
6.5.2 Results on the selective maintenance optimization
6.6 Concluding remarks164
CHAPTER 7 SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK166

7.1 Sum	mary
7.1.1	Dependence modelling
7.1.2	Reliability analysis of MSS considering dependence168
7.1.3	Selective maintenance modeling169
7.2 Futu	ıre work170
7.2.1	Study more complex systems171
7.2.2 s-depe	Study methods for reliability evaluation of multi-state systems with endence
7.2.3	Study selective maintenance in a finite planning horizon173
BIBLIOGRA	.PHY

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 The Lac-mégantic Train derailment and explosion [3]
Figure 1.2 Binary and multi-state systems
Figure 1.3 Types of dependence in maintenance of multi-component systems
Figure 3.1 A series-parallel aystem
Figure 3.2 The maintenance cost (time) vs. number of repaired components
Figure 3.3 The maintenance cost when repairing identical components
Figure 3.4 Solution representation
Figure 3.5 Series-parallel system in Example 3.153
Figure 3.6 Total maintenance time of repairing dependent components vs. independent components
Figure 3.7 Total maintenance cost of repairing dependent components vs. independent components
Figure 4.1 A series system

Figure 4.2	A directed graph representing the precedence relations71
Figure 4.3	The Back-ward search algorithm77
Figure 4.4	Maintenance time in Example 4.2
Figure 4.5	Maintenance cost in Example 4.290
Figure 4.6	System reliability vs. total maintenance budget
Figure 5.1	A series system with n components
Figure 5.2	Two types of s-dependence in a multi-state series system100
Figure 5.3	Transition diagram of a multi-state component without s-dependence102
Figure 5.4	Transition diagram of two components with type 2 s-dependence
Figure 5.5	Multi-state system in Example 5.1127
Figure 5.6	Transition diagram of a 3-component system with type 2 s-dependence128
Figure 5.7	MSS in Example 5.2130
Figure 5.8	MSS profit and cost analysis134
Figure 6.1	A series system
Figure 6.2	A loading condition example142
Figure 6.3	Base-load profile (a) and random variation (b)142
Figure 6.4	Multi-state component degradation143

Figure 6.5 System reliability estimation procedure using Monte-Carlo simulation151
Figure 6.6 The multi-state series system with 5 components
Figure 6.7 The mean system reliability (a) and standard deviation (b) versus number of simulation runs
Figure 6.8 The mean system reliability and standard deviation at different levels of load variation
Figure 6.9 The system reliability versus maintenance budget160

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Summary of different cost saving models 44
Table 3.2 GA parameters setting
Table 3.3 The optimal maintenance actions for all components
Table 3.4 The probability of the system being in state k or above in the next operating
mission (Problem P3.1)
Table 3.5 Summary on the quality of GA results
Table 3.6 The optimal maintenance actions for all components when repairs of
components are independent (Problem P3.4)
Table 3.7 The probability of the system being in state k or above when repairs of components are independent (Problem P3.4) 57
Table 3.8 The optimal maintenance actions for all components when repairs of
components are dependent (Problem P3.1)
Table 3.9 The probability of the system being in state k or above when repairs of
components are dependent
Table 3.10 Results of different saving models 60

Table 4.1 Initial and end states of components at the maintenance depot
Table 4.2 Component characteristics
Table 4.3 Disassembly time (time units)
Table 4.4 Input data on cost, time, and required working level of the system
Table 4.5 Selective maintenance results in Example 4.2 87
Table 4.6 Resource allocation results in Example 4.2
Table 5.1 Components' transition rates in Example 5.1
Table 5.2 Components' characteristics in Example 5.2 130
Table 5.3 The system information and resource availabilities
Table 5.4 Selective maintenance results in Example 5.2 132
Table 6.1 Components' states and parameters in load-dependent degradation model157
Table 6.2 Time and cost of repairing each component
Table 6.3 Results on the system reliability evaluation
Table 6.4 The optimal selective maintenance scenario with $C = 000, T = $ hours
Table 6.5 The system reliability and maintenance resources consumption

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- C-K: Chapman-Kolmogorov
- DN: Do-nothing
- DP: Disassembly Path
- GA: Genetic Algorithm
- GDD: Gradual Degradation Dependence
- IF: Immediate Failure
- IFD: Immediate Failure Dependence
- IM: Imperfect Maintenance
- MCS: Monte-Carlo Simulation
- MSS: Multi-state System
- PG: Production Gain
- PHM: Proportional Hazard Model

PL: Production Loss

SM: Selective Maintenance

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Today, engineering systems are sophisticated. The development of science and technology has allowed us to manufacture complex systems with thousands of sub-units and components. In addition, the systems usually involve complicated interactions of elements, hardware, software, humans, and operating conditions. These interactions play critical roles when the systems are analyzed. These complex systems bring challenges to engineers and managers since efficient tools need to be developed for modelling, operating, and maintaining them.

Failures of such systems have substantial impact on the society. The following example demonstrates a complex engineering system's failure with severe consequences, where the relationship between components plays a critical role. The incident happened at midnight in the town of Lac-mégantic, Quebec, Canada on July 06, 2013 [1]. The Montreal, Maine and Atlantic Railway (MMA) train with 74 cars carrying crude oil was parked in Nantes, Quebec with a lead locomotive engine running. The lead locomotive engine drove the air compressor which supplied air to a system of air brakes. A number of hand brakes were also applied to the train. Then, the fuel supply and the electricity breakers were shut down since the locomotive engine was producing excessive smoke and fire was reported due to a failure of "a non-standard repair" [2]. In this case, an automatic penalty brake would have been applied to the entire train, but the electricity breakers were in the off position, and the brake had no power to operate. With the shutdown of the locomotive engine, the air compressor was also off. The air in the brake system started leaking and the air brakes were gradually released. In a steep track from Nantes (515 metres above the sea level) to Lac-mégantic (407 metres above the sea level), the number of hand brakes applied were not sufficient to hold the train. The train started moving downhill, reached 101 km/h, derailed, and exploded in the town of Lac-mégantic in hot weather. The train derailment and explosion in Lac-mégantic is one of the worst accidents in Canada's transportation history. Sixty-three tank cars were damaged, and about six million litres of crude oil was released. The fire and several explosions began immediately, causing 47 deaths, leveling buildings; about 2000 people were forced from their homes, and much of the downtown core was destroyed [1].

The Lac-mégantic disaster was due to several contributing factors. The failure of the locomotive engine, insufficient awareness of the relationships between different operating units, e.g. engine, air compressor, air brakes, and hand brakes, and the changes in operating conditions, e.g. steep track, hot weather, and the special characteristics of the carried good - crude oil, all contributed to the accident.



Figure 1.1 The Lac-mégantic Train derailment and explosion [3]

One of the best ways to keep systems in service and to prevent failures is to perform proper maintenance. Undoubtedly, the relationships within complex engineering systems need to be considered when maintaining the systems. On the other hand, industrial organizations often have limited resources for performing maintenance, which include budget, time, and maintenance personnel, etc. Maintenance optimization plays a critical role in the business objective of assuring safe operations and contributing to the total profit. This thesis presents a study of maintenance optimization for complex systems while considering the reliability, dependency, and economical factors in maintenance of the systems.

1.1 Systems and components

In this dissertation, the system is considered to be a collection of smaller and less complex sub-units (e.g. sub-systems, components) to perform a specific function. Component is defined as a self-contained unit that is not further sub-divided. This does not mean that a component cannot be made of smaller parts; instead, it is the smallest unit considered in maintenance analysis of the system.

Since the system can be decomposed into a set of sub-systems and components, the system configuration describes how the components are connected. In a complex system, components can be connected in different types of configuration or arrangement such as series, parallel, series-parallel, k-out-of-n, bridge, etc. [4]. When the system is in operation, the system state can be determined by the states of its components. When the system the system is to be maintained, all the components are considered simultaneously.

In traditional reliability theory [4], [5], the system and its components are considered to be in two possible states of *functioning* – state 1 or *failed* – state 0. However, in practice, many systems and components can degrade and operate in an intermediate working state. The system may be in several states varying from perfect functioning to complete failure (Figure 1.2). Such a system is called multi-state system (MSS) [6], [7]. Several examples of multi-state systems in practice such as power generation systems [6], [7], pipe-line systems [7], and coal transportation systems [8], [9] have been introduced.



Figure 1.2 Binary and multi-state systems

When the system and its component are multi-state, the decision making process becomes more complicated since imperfect maintenance for a component to its intermediate level is also possible. The maintenance manager has to decide which components to maintain and the state level that it should be maintained to.

1.2 Reliability and maintenance

1.2.1 Reliability

Reliability is an important measure in engineering system design, analysis, and maintenance. Reliability of an item is defined as "the probability that it will perform its intended functions for a given period of time when used under specified operating conditions" [4]. The *item* in this definition can be an individual component or a collection of components, i.e. the system. When considering a system of n components, a structural function, which defines the system state from its component states, can be used to

describe the relationship of components and determine the system reliability.

In the binary state context, the reliability of an item can be defined as the probability that it is in the functioning state - state 1 for a specified time duration and under specified operating conditions, i.e. $r(t) = \Pr(x(t)=1)$, where x(t) is the state of the item at time t. For a multistate item with K+1 levels of performance in an increasing order of $0,1,\ldots,K$, the reliability of the item is the probability that the item is in a state $k, k \in$ $\{0,1,\ldots,K\}$ or above, $r(t) = \Pr(x(t) \ge k)$. This definition implies that all the states which are greater than or equal to k are satisfactory states.

1.2.2 Maintenance

In the classical view, maintenance is simply reactive tasks to repair or replace broken items. This old approach is known as corrective maintenance or breakdown maintenance. With the introduction of new maintenance technologies, maintenance is now defined as "all actions necessary for retaining an item in or restoring it to a physical state considered satisfactory for its fulfillment of its production functions" [10]. This new concept widens the range of maintenance tasks including, but not limited to, cleaning, lubrication, adjustment, inspections, performance tracking, minor repair, major repair, overhauls, and replacements.

According to Kececioglu [10], four to forty times of the purchase cost is needed for maintenance to keep a system operating satisfactorily through its lifetime. For industrial organizations, maintenance is not only to prevent failure but also to extend the life of their assets. As stated in Jardine and Tsang [11], "maintenance excellence is concerned with balancing performance, risks, and the input resources to achieve optimal solutions". Therefore, maintenance optimization deals with crucial decisions to be made on the system such as what maintenance actions to perform, when to perform them, how much resources to spent, and what the restored system performance level to be. Ultimately, optimizing maintenance can contribute to profits by keeping an efficient and safe operation and utilizing their resources in terms of manpower and materials effectively.

1.3 Dependence and maintenance

A definition of multi-component system maintenance models was given by Cho and Parlar [12] as "multi-component maintenance models are concerned with optimal maintenance policies for a system consisting of several units of machines or many pieces of equipment, which may or may not depend on each other". Since 1980s, the topic of maintenance for multi-component systems has been attracting the attention of researchers and it has been recognized that the interaction between components should be taken into consideration in maintenance decision making [13]. In this dissertation, dependence in maintenance of multi-component systems is classified into four types, i.e. economic, structural, stochastic, and operational dependence, as illustrated in Figure 1.3. This classification is based on the relationships between components' maintenance actions, between components' lifetimes, and between components' lifetimes and operating conditions.



Figure 1.3 Types of dependence in maintenance of multi-component systems

Economic dependence implies that the cost of maintaining multiple components can be lower in comparison with individually maintaining each component. Structural dependence applies when the components form a group and the maintenance of a component in the group requires an extra intervention of other components or at least disassembling them. Stochastic dependence means that the state of a component may affect the state of other components in the multi-component system. Operational dependence depicts the effect of changes in operating conditions on the degradation of components.

Economic dependence and structural dependence are related to implementation of

maintenance activities, and the component's deterioration is not affected by these types of dependence. The main difference between economic and structural dependence is that economic dependence is related to the economies of scale where multiple maintenance actions on multiple components together are cheaper than doing maintenances on these components individually, while structural dependence is related to the inter-relationship of connected components that requires extra actions to other components in order to maintain a specific component.

Stochastic and operational dependence, on the other hand, relate to components' deterioration. Stochastic dependence defines the relationship between components when a component fails or changes its current state, e.g. a component's failure induces failures or causes shocks to other components. The state and the degradation of the affected component can both be influenced by an influencing component and therefore the system reliability is subjected to change when stochastic dependence exists. Operational dependence reflects the effect of variable operating conditions on the degradation of the components. Generally, a component degrades faster under more severe conditions such as heavier workload or higher temperature. Since the system reliability depends on the degradation of its components, the maintenance policy for the system needs to be investigated depending on the component-component or component-operating condition relationships.

1.4 Selective maintenance

In the maintenance literature, various models have been proposed [11]–[17]. In these reported studies, preventive replacement, imperfect maintenance, and inspection policies for repairable systems were investigated. However, the majority of these maintenance models ignore the limitation of resources to perform maintenance actions. Many systems have to perform several missions with limited resources, such as time and budget, for maintenance between successive missions. It is often impossible to do all desirable maintenance actions within the available resources. Thus, the maintenance manager has to decide which components to maintain and how to perform maintenance in order to meet the requirements on system performance. This problem is called selective maintenance [18].

Selective maintenance has been studied for several industrial applications [19]–[21]. A production system may be in operation 24 hours a day during the weekdays and be maintained at weekend; a computer system is utilized heavily during daytime and maintained at night; airplanes and ships are maintained within a few hours to a few days before the next journey. In another example, a power generation plant often has a scheduled outage, i.e. maintenance break, every year for maintenance. During the scheduled outage, ranging from one to three weeks, there are several subsystems and components that need to be maintained. The plant manager wants to ensure reliable operation of the plant and satisfy its power generating demand while time, budget, and personnel for maintenance are limited. Selective maintenance can help determine which components and what maintenance actions to perform to accommodate this need. The decision is made based on the available resources for maintenance and the requirement of the system performance in the next mission.

Industrial organizations today are required to manage their assets more effectively with limited expenses to accommodate the advancements of technologies and global market competitiveness. Selective maintenance is a powerful solution, which can help system managers by providing optimal maintenance strategies within limited resources.

Selective maintenance was first introduced by Rice et al. [18] in 1998. Since then, it has been studied many researchers. Reported studies on selective maintenance mainly focuses on binary systems [18]–[36]. Some investigations of selective maintenance of multi-state systems are also reported in [9], [37], [38]. A detailed literature review of selective maintenance is to be presented in Chapter 2. The dependence relationships are mostly ignored in these reported studies. This dissertation will focus on modeling dependency in complex multi-state systems while looking for an optimal selective maintenance strategy of the systems. The next section will provide the scope and objectives of this research.

1.5 Thesis scope and objectives

This PhD research aims to study selective maintenance modeling for complex systems with multiple performance levels, while considering the dependence relationships in the system. This research tackles the maintenance problem when resources are limited by providing maintenance strategies using both system performance requirements and maintenance resources as input information. The two main goals of this research are as follows.

- 1. To model the dependence within multi-state systems, including the interactions between components' maintenance actions, component-component lifetimes, and components' lifetimes and the operating conditions.
- 2. To construct and solve the selective maintenance optimization models for multi-state systems with dependence. Benefits of the model, consequences of ignoring dependence, and the optimal selective maintenance strategy are discussed and compared in several illustrative examples to emphasize the importance of dependence.

The proposed research considering dependence is one of the most challenging topics in the field of reliability and maintainability. The results can be used in a wide range of applications where maintenance of physical systems is compulsory. The maintenance models can provide the system managers with a set of maintenance actions to ensure reliable and cost-effective operation of the systems, and also help them wisely utilize their available resources.

Within this dissertation, the relationships within the systems to be addressed can be described as follows.

- 1. When maintaining several components simultaneously, there are savings due to the share of resources, e.g. materials, tool, manpower, etc. The differences in savings between maintaining identical and non-identical components are also considered.
- 2. In a complex system structure, repairing a component requires intervention actions to other components, thus extra cost may be needed for maintaining a component. This is described by precedence relations in assembly and disassembly of components in the systems.
- 3. When a component fails or changes its current state, it may affect the performance and degradation of other components. This often occurs when the components are inter-connected or functionally dependent.
- 4. The components operate in dynamic loading conditions, and when the load condition changes, the degradations of components are affected.

When the dependence is related to the degradation of components, methods for the system reliability evaluation of the system are to be developed. The selective maintenance models will employ results of reliability evaluation methods to find the satisfactory system reliability for the next operating mission.

1.6 Organization of the thesis

With the proposed scope and objectives in Section 1.5, this thesis contains 7 chapters which are organized as follows. Chapter 1 presents the challenges in selective maintenance modelling of multi-state systems considering dependence, followed by the scope, objectives, and structure of this thesis. Relevant concepts of system, component, reliability, maintenance, and dependence are also included in Chapter 1. Chapter 2 introduces the fundamentals of selective maintenance including some general notations and basic concepts, a detailed literature review, and a general selective maintenance optimization model for multi-state systems with independent components.

Chapter 3 discusses the economic dependence between maintenance actions of dependent components. An extended selective maintenance model based on Chen et al. [37] with two mechanisms of time and cost savings when repairing non-identical and identical components in multi-state series-parallel systems will be developed.

Chapter 4 examines the structural dependence of components in a multi-state series system. We formulate the structural dependence relationships between components when disassembling the system. The directed graph [39] is used to represent the precedence relation in the disassembly of components. A back-ward search procedure for determining the system disassembly path is developed. Both economic dependence and structural dependence are considered in the selective maintenance model.

In Chapter 5, we will model two types of stochastic dependence for multi-state components. The first type relates to the failure of a component induced by another component. The second type reflects the degradation rate change of a component to the degradation of another component. A reliability evaluation method based on stochastic process is proposed for analysis of the system. The output performance of the system is considered and integrated in a cost-based selective maintenance model to maximize the total system profit in the next mission.

Chapter 6 is devoted to modeling the dependence of components' degradations on the operating conditions. We propose a load-dependent degradation model for multi-state components operating in dynamic loading conditions. The development of the model is based on the component's degradation in the k-out-of-n load-sharing systems [40]. The system reliability is estimated by Monte-Carlo simulation method. Analysis of optimal selective maintenance scenarios for different levels of budget limitation is provided.

The summary of contributions of this research is presented in Chapter 7. Possible future research directions are also discussed in this chapter.

CHAPTER 2

FUNDAMENTALS OF SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE

In this chapter, we introduce the fundamentals of the selective maintenance problem including general notation, basic concepts, and a selective maintenance problem statement. A detailed literature review of reported work on this topic in the last two decades and a general selective maintenance model will also be presented.

General notation:

- *n:* Number of components in the system
- *i*, *j*: Component indices
- K: Maximum state
- a, b, k, l: State indices
- τ : Operating mission duration
- Y_i : Given state of component *i* at the end of the previous mission

Y: State vector of all components in the system at the end of the previous mission X_i : State of component *i* at the end of the maintenance period X: State vector of all components in the system at the end of the maintenance period ϕ_s . The system state function in the next operating mission, $\phi_s \sim 0, 1, ..., K$ $t_i(a,b)$: Required time of a single repair of component *i* from state *a* to state *b*, b > a T_i : A $(K + \times K +$ repair time matrix of component *i* with an element in row a, column b being $t_i(a,b)$ if b > a and being 0 if $b \le a$ T: Total time needed of all selected maintenance activities T_0 : Duration of the maintenance break $c_i(a,b)$: Cost of a single repair of component *i* from state *a* to state *b*, b > a C_i : A $(K + \times K + \text{ repair cost matrix of component } i \text{ with an element in}$ row a, column b being $c_i(a,b)$ if b > a and being 0 if $b \le a$ C: Total cost of all selective maintenance activities C_0 : Available budget for all selective maintenance activities $p_i(a,b)$: The probability of component *i* being in state b at the end of an operating mission given that it is in state a at the beginning of the mission. P_i : A $(K + \times K + \mu)$ probability transition matrix of component *i* with an element in row a, column b being $p_i(a,b)$

<i>D</i> :	Demand of the system in the next mission
$R_s(t,D)$:	The reliability of the system at time t for demand D
$R_{\it 0}$:	Minimum reliability requirement of the system

2.1 Basic concepts

2.1.1 Mission and maintenance break

In selective maintenance, a *mission* is a task that the system has to perform. A mission is associated with a time duration τ and a specified operating condition. For example: an aircraft has to perform a mission which can be a flight between two airports under certain weather conditions; a truck needs to carry a certain load between two depots. Between two missions, there is a time break for doing the maintenance called the *maintenance break*, e.g. sojourn time at an airport or depot. The maintenance break is also associated with a specified duration of T_0 . The job of the maintenance decision maker is to find the optimal maintenance plan to ensure the success of the next mission.

2.1.2 Mission reliability

Mission reliability is the probability that the system will successfully accomplish the next mission. It implies system reliability in the time duration of the next mission, thus is taken into consideration prior to the start of the mission. Mission reliability is an important part of selective maintenance decision making. It represents the system requirement for the next mission. For instance, the maintenance manager has to optimize
the selective maintenance decisions so that the system reliability is greater than or equal to a required threshold.

2.1.3 Maintenance resources

Maintenance resources refer to available supplies for system maintenance, e.g. time, materials, staff, energy, etc. Since maintenance activities must be performed prior to the next mission, *maintenance time* is a special limited resource in selective maintenance problem. Other types of resources will be represented in a single type, namely, the *maintenance cost*. Thus, in many cases, only two types of resources, i.e. time and cost, are considered when modelling the selective maintenance problem.

In selective maintenance, the resources are limited. All the maintenance activities must be performed within the maintenance break duration of T_6 . Similarly, total system maintenance costs must be less than or equal to a maintenance budget, C_6 , scheduled for the break.

2.1.4 States of components at the maintenance depot

Maintenance activities are performed at the maintenance depot. When the system arrives at the maintenance depot, the health state of each component can be detected. Selective maintenance often assumes that the state of each component is known right after the system enters the maintenance depot. In an n component system, the set of states of all the components at the time of entering the maintenance depot can be represented by a vector $\mathbf{Y} = [Y_1 \ Y_2 \ \dots \ Y_n]$, where $Y_i, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n$ is the state of component *i*.

When the system exits the maintenance depot, the vector of components' states is $\mathbf{X} = [X_1 \ X_2 \ \dots \ X_n]$, where X_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, is the state of component i at the time of exiting the maintenance depot, and X_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, is also the state of component i at the beginning of the next mission. In selective maintenance, X_i is a variable that needs to be determined in order to obtain the best maintenance strategy.

2.1.5 Selective maintenance strategy

Selective maintenance optimization seeks an optimal maintenance strategy utilizing available resources. Selective maintenance strategy includes a set of components in the system and the corresponding maintenance actions to be performed on these components. Since the health states of components are known at the time of entering the maintenance depot, selective maintenance strategy can also be represented by a set of all component states at the time of exiting the maintenance depot.

2.2 Selective maintenance problem statement

In this research, the selective maintenance problem can be defined as follows: given the states of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot, the resources needed for different levels of maintaining each component, and the total available resources, the maintenance decision maker has to find a maintenance strategy including a set of components to be maintained and the corresponding level of maintenance for each 20

selected component to ensure the system's reliable operation in the next mission.

2.3 Literature review on selective maintenance

2.3.1 Selective maintenance for binary systems

The first selective maintenance model was introduced in 1998 by Rice et al. [18]. A binary integer optimization model for optimizing the reliability of series-parallel systems was proposed. At the maintenance depot, there are only two available maintenance options on a failed component: replace or do nothing. Afterwards, different selective maintenance models based on Rice's model were developed for binary systems in [19]. Cassady et al. [20] further extended the work of Rice et al. by considering components whose lifetimes follow the Weibull distribution and different maintenance actions such as replacement and minimal repair of failed components, and preventive replacement of surviving components. Schneider and Cassady [24], [33] extended the model by Rice et al. by considering selective maintenance for a fleet comprised of multiple binary series-parallel systems. Pandey et al. [21], [22] studied selective maintenance with an imperfect repair model, in which the health of a component may be not "as good as new" and depends on the cost spending in the maintenance break. Pandey et al. [23] later extended the model in [21] by considering components with two types of failure modes, namely maintainable and non-maintainable failure modes. Ali et al. [27] assumed that the cost of repairing or replacing a component are random variables following the Normal distributions. Khatab and Aghezzaf [28] considered a selective maintenance model with

random quality of imperfect maintenance. The age-reduction factor in the imperfect repair model was a random variable with a known probability density function. Zhu et al. [29] studied the selective maintenance model considering different cost factors in a manufacturing line, including maintenance cost and possible production loss due to system unavailability.

Maaroufi et al. [31] first investigated the inter-relationship between components in selective maintenance of binary systems. They considered a special case of stochastic dependence where the failure of a component can cause other components to fail immediately. A fixed "set-up" cost for dismantling and reassembling the system was incurred only once when more than one component was replaced. A set of rules to reduce the solution space was later proposed by the same authors in [32]. The selective maintenance study in [31], [32] has not fully addressed the inter-relationships between components when maintaining a complex system. First, other types of stochastic dependence may be presented, e.g. when the failure of a component does not cause other component to fail immediately but affects the degradation rates of other components. Second, the impacts of economic dependence on the optimal maintenance strategy have not been investigated. Investigation of the effects of economic dependence on selective maintenance decision making would help the maintenance department in utilizing their resource effectively. In addition, modeling other types of dependence such as structural and operational dependence and their effects on maintenance decision also needs further examination.

Some researchers extended the traditional single-mission selective maintenance into the multi-mission model, where the system has to perform multiple missions consecutively in a finite or infinite planning horizon. Maillart et al. [35] studied selective maintenance for a system with multiple identical missions in both finite and infinite planning horizons. They claimed that the differences between the policies of a single mission and multiple identical missions were minimal. Pandey et al. [36] extended the study of Maillart by considering non-identical missions in a finite planning horizon. The model in [36] jointly optimized the number of maintenance intervals and the selective maintenance schedule in each interval for series-parallel systems.

2.3.2 Selective maintenance for multi-state systems

Not many researchers have studied selective maintenance when the system is multi-state. Chen et al. [37] reported a preliminary work on selective maintenance for multi-state systems. A selective maintenance model for a series-parallel system with the objective of minimizing the total maintenance cost subject to reliability constraints was proposed. Liu and Huang [38] presented a selective maintenance model for systems with multi-state corresponding to cumulative performance of N binary components and considering the imperfect maintenance that may restore the condition of the system to an intermediate state. Pandey et al. [9] investigated selective maintenance for a system with multi-state independent components, where multiple intermediate repair actions are available on a component between do-nothing and replacement. Existing selective maintenance models for multi-state systems with multi-state components rely on the independence assumption between components in the system. This motivates the author to investigate and model different types of dependence and explore their effects on the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems.

2.3.3 Solution methodologies for selective maintenance optimization

In terms of solution methodology, Rice et al. [18] solved the selective maintenance problem based on the enumeration method. Rajagopalan and Cassady [26] improved the selective maintenance solution approach for series-parallel systems with identical components in the same sub-system by assigning bounds to the possible number of components to be repaired on the basis of available resources. Lust et al. [25] proposed a heuristic based on the Tabu search approach and an exact method based on the branch and bound procedure. They found that the time taken by the heuristic was less, but the result was inferior compared to the exact method. In recent selective maintenance studies [9], [34], [36], [38], [41], evolutionary algorithms such as genetic algorithm and differential evolution were used for solving the selective maintenance problem and they have proved to be more efficient methods.

2.4 A general selective maintenance optimization model

In this section, a baseline model for selective maintenance optimization problems for general multi-state systems of independent components is presented. Unless otherwise stated, the materials in this section are based on Rice et al. [18] and Dao et al. [42].

Selective maintenance looks for the best maintenance strategy for multi-component systems with given input data such as the states of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot and resources needed for various maintenance activities. It is generally a non-linear integer optimization problem. Assume that the state vector of all components at the time entering the maintenance depot is known as $\mathbf{Y} = [Y_1 \ Y_2 \ ... \ Y_n]$. We need to determine the state vector of components at the time exiting the maintenance depot $\mathbf{X} = [X_1 \ X_2 \ ... \ X_n]$. In the following selective maintenance model, we need to find the maintenance activity associated with each component to be performed to achieve the maintenance objective of increasing the system reliability under limitation of time and cost.

P: Maximize
$$f = R_s(\mathbf{X})$$
 (2.1)

Subject to:
$$T(\mathbf{X}) \le T_0$$
 (2.2)

$$C(\mathbf{X}) \le C_0 \tag{2.3}$$

$$Y_i \le X_i \le K, \ i=1,2,...,n$$
 (2.4)

$$X_i$$
 is integer, $i=1,2,\dots,n$ (2.5)

In this model **P**, the objective function (2.1) is to maximize the system reliability in the next mission, i.e. the probability that the system will successfully complete the mission of duration τ and the demand level *D*. There are two constraints in (2.2) and (2.3) which

restrict the total time and the total cost for all maintenance activities within available time, T_0 , and budget, C_0 . If the repairs of components in the system are independent, the total time and cost for maintaining the system can be calculated as in (2.6) and (2.7). The decision variables, X_i , are integer variables between Y_i and the maximum state K for all i = 1, 2, ..., n.

$$T(X) = \frac{1}{i=1}^{n} t(Y, X)$$
(2.6)

$$C X = \frac{n}{i} c Y X \tag{2.7}$$

In Equations (2.6) and (2.7), $t_i(Y_i, X_i)$ and $c_i(Y_i, X_i)$ are the required time and cost of repairing of component *i* from state Y_i to state X_i . Equations (2.6) and (2.7) indicate that the total system maintenance time (cost) can be obtained by taking the sum of all components' maintenance times (costs).

2.5 Concluding remarks

The topic of selective maintenance has been active for the last two decades, ever since it was first introduced in 1998. The majority of reported studies on selective maintenance is for binary systems. In addition, most of them rely on an assumption of independent components in the system, though engineering systems are complicated and the components within a system are inter-related and their dependence relationships cannot be ignored. The advancement in computing technology enables us to find the solution for complicated selective maintenance optimization problems. Thus, the focus of this PhD research is on modeling dependence in complex multi-state systems aiming at the optimal selective maintenance strategy of the systems. Four types of dependence presented in Section 1.3 and their effects on the selective maintenance problem will be analyzed in the remaining chapters of this thesis.

CHAPTER 3

Selective Maintenance for Multi-State Systems under Economic Dependence

This chapter studies economic dependence in selective maintenance for multi-state series-parallel systems. We propose two mechanisms of savings due to simultaneous repair of identical and non-identical components in the series-parallel system. Both time and cost savings can be achieved when several components are simultaneously repaired in a selective maintenance strategy. Several optimization models are derived and genetic algorithm is used to solve the models. Versions of this chapter have been published as a book chapter [43] and a journal paper in Reliability Engineering and System Safety [42].

3.1 Introduction

A preliminary work on selective maintenance for multistate systems with multi-state components was performed by Chen et al. [37]. A selective maintenance model for series-parallel system with the objective of minimizing the total maintenance cost subject to reliability constraints was proposed. However, in maintenance management and particularly in selective maintenance, the time allocated for maintenance activities is one of the most critical constraints. This chapter extends the model by Chen et al. [37] to a situation in which the maintenance crew has to consider the available time for total maintenance activities, T_{θ} , which is limited. The total maintenance time, cost or the system reliability in the next mission can be either treated as objectives or constraints in selective maintenance modelling.

Multiple maintenance actions are usually selected in a selective maintenance scenario. In many industrial systems such as aircrafts, medical equipment, automotive machines, and power plants, etc., repairing multiple components, especially identical components, is always more economical due to the share of resources for maintenance. In this case, the components in such systems are considered to be economically dependent. For example, if a power plant has two turbine units, the joint maintenance of both turbines would be more economical since their maintenance is very similar in terms of inspection, repairing tool, labor and materials and thus, they tend to be scheduled for maintenance at the same time considering this economic dependence.

The idea that performing a group of maintenance activities may require only one set-up was employed in a series of papers on corrective and preventive maintenance [44]–[48] and reviewed in [13] and [49]. More recently, Laggoune et al. [50] investigated an N-component series system, where the failure of a component prevents the system from operation and the system downtime can bring opportunistic replacement for non-failed components. Besnard et al. [51] and Ding and Tian [52] studied opportunistic maintenance for wind power systems, where the transportation cost to bring a maintenance crew to a wind farm can be saved if preventive maintenance is performed once failure occurs to a wind turbine. Nourelfath and Chatelet [53] investigated economic dependence between components of a parallel system in the production and preventive maintenance planning problem with the objective of minimizing the total production and maintenance cost. In selective maintenance, Maaroufi et al. [32] considered maintenance for binary systems with propagated failures and economic dependence where a fixed "set-up cost" for dismantling and reassembling the system is incurred only once when more than one component is replaced. In these papers, authors considered that the same set-up cost is incurred each time a corrective, preventive or opportunistic replacement is needed. The components are assumed to be "as good as new" after replacement, rather than the possibility of repairing components to different intermediate states as in multi-state systems. Moreover, these papers did not consider time savings when performing maintenance on multiple components in the systems. In this study, the system and its components may be in any state from a set of all possible states, where state K is perfect functioning, state 0 is complete failure, others are S =Kintermediate states.

In this chapter, we focus on modeling two types of economic dependence between multi-state components based on the share of setting up and the advantage of repairing multiple identical components in each subsystem of the multi-state series-parallel system. Both time and cost savings can be realized when several components are selected to be repaired in a selective maintenance strategy. The multi-state series-parallel systems are assumed to have the following characteristics.

- All the components are s-independent.
- The maintenance activities do not make the condition of components or the system worse, i.e. the states of the system and its components are not lower after going out of the maintenance depot.
- The resource requirement for a single maintenance activity is deterministic and known.
- The probability for a component at any pre-specified state b degrading to all possible states a < b is known.

3.2 Problem formulation

3.2.1 The system descriptions

The series-parallel system consists of M s-independent subsystems connected in series and in subsystem i, i = 1, 2, ..., M, there are N_i identical components connected in parallel as shown in Figure 3.1. Each component in the system may be in any state from perfect functioning, i.e. state K, to complete failure, i.e. state 0. The state of a subsystem is the maximum state among its components and the system state is determined by the minimum state among M subsystems. In the selective maintenance problem, the system has to work consecutively identical missions with break interval of T_0 - time from the end of previous mission to the beginning of the next mission. The maintenance crews have to decide what and how to maintain each component in the system within available budget C_0 and available time T_0 .



Figure 3.1 A series-parallel aystem

For each j^{th} component in subsystem $i, Y \leq Y \leq K$, represents its state at the time of entering the maintenance depot and X_j is its state after the selective maintenance break. Because the maintenance activities do not make the condition of components and the system worse, it is clear that $Y = X_j = K$. In the selective maintenance problem, the state vector of all components in the system at the time of entering the maintenance depot, $Y = Y_{j}$ i = 1, 2, ..., M, $j = 1, 2, ..., N_i$, is known; we have to find its state vector at the time of exiting the maintenance depot, $X = X_{j}$, i = 1, 2, ..., M, j = 1, $2, ..., N_i$.

3.2.2 The system reliability

A component degrades with use, and its state at the end of an operating mission is a random variable. Xue and Yang [54] and Sheu and Zhang [55] investigated the measure of evaluating components' performance degradation in reliability analysis and optimal replacement of multi-state systems. These may serve as a good reference for the state transition analysis of multi-state components and systems. Here, we will not focus on the component's degradation process in the operating mission time i. In this chapter, we assume that the probabilities for a component in subsystem i at any pre-specified state adegrading to all possible state b ($0 \le b \le a$) after the operating mission, p(a,b), are already known. When a = 0, 1, ..., K, these probabilities form a $(K+1) \times (K+1)$ transition probability matrix of each component in subsystem i for completing a mission as given in Equation (3.1).

$$P \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ n & n & & 0 \\ & & & & i \\ \dots & & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ p & K & p & K & K \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.1)

In Equation (3.1), the state of components cannot rise after an operating mission, i.e. $p_i \ a \ b = if \ a < b$ If a component begins in state 0, it will remain in that state after the next mission since it cannot degrade further, hence $p_i(0,0) = 1$. If a component is in state $a, \ 0 < a \le K$ its state after the next mission can be any value from the set of $\{a \ a - 0\}$. Therefore,

$$\sum_{b=}^{K} p \ a \ b = \sum_{b=}^{a} p \ a \ b = for \ a = K$$
(3.2)

In order to deal with the selective maintenance problem, we need to find the system reliability at the end of the next mission at a specified level d, i.e. the required reliability level, $R \ d \ d$. In series-parallel structures, a subsystem is in a state less than d, $\phi_{subi} < d$, when all of its components are in states less than d. The event that the subsystem i is in state d or above at the end of the next mission, $\phi_{subi} > d$, is the complement event of $\phi_{subi} < d$. Thus, the reliability of the system at level $d, R \ d$, can be computed by using Equation (3.3) [37].

$$R \ d = \phi \ge d = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \phi \ge d =$$

$$= \prod_{i=1}^{M} \left(1 - \Pr(\phi_{subi} < d) = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \left(-\prod_{j=1}^{d-1} \sum_{j=1}^{d-1} p_{j} X_{j} b \right)$$
(3.3)

3.2.3 The system repair time and cost

When entering the maintenance depot, components may be in any state from the set of state space, i.e. each elements of Y_{ij} can be any number from $\{0, 1, ..., K$. Within the maintenance break duration, T_0 , and the available budget, C_0 , the system and its components are subjected to be maintained to "properly working" states so that the system will meet the reliability requirement in the next operating mission. Here, the required time and cost for single repair (individual repair) of an independent and identically distributed (*i.i.d.*) component in subsystem *i* from state *a* to any state *b* which is greater than *a* are known. The single repair time and cost of each component in subsystem *i* from an arbitrary state *a* to state *b* are arranged in matrix form as in (3.4) and (3.5) respectively.

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & t & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{i} \qquad M \qquad (3.4)$$

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \end{bmatrix}^{i} M \qquad (3.5)$$

In (3.4) and (3.5), the time and cost of repairing a single component from state a to state

b are non-zero values when a is less than b. In general, $t \ a \ b$ $t \ a \ b$ and $c \ a \ b$ $c \ a \ b$ $if \ b \ b$; $t \ a \ b$ and $c \ a \ b$ $if \ a \ b$. Without doubt to the calculation of maintenance time and cost, an element in these matrices is set equal to zero if a is greater than b, i.e. $t \ a \ b$ $c \ a \ b$ $if \ a \ b$

In order to calculate the total repair time and cost of the entire system, it is necessary to analyze the relationship of the repair time and cost between components. The time and cost for improving the state of a component may not affect that of other components independent repair time for each component. However, the same setting up, maintenance process, equipment, etc. may be utilized when multiple components are simultaneously selected to be repaired in a maintenance strategy. In this case, time and cost savings will be achieved by repairing multiple components in the selective maintenance modeling.

3.2.2.1 Independent repair time and cost

When the repair time for each component is independent, the total time required to do the selective maintenance for the system is simply a summation of all the individual repair time of its components in (3.4). If we know the components' state vector at the time of entering the maintenance depot $Y \quad Y_{j} \quad i \quad M \quad j \quad N_{j}$, the total system maintenance time corresponding to a vector of component state at the time of exiting the maintenance depot, $X \quad X_{j}$, can be computed and represented as in Equation (3.6).

$$T X = \frac{M}{i} T Y X$$
(3.6)

Similarly, the total system maintenance cost can be obtained by taking the sum of all single components' repair costs.

$$C X = \frac{M}{i} C Y X$$
(3.7)

3.2.2.2 Dependent repair time and cost

In most realistic systems, time and cost savings are achieved when multiple components are selected in a selective maintenance strategy, especially for identical components in each subsystem of series-parallel systems. Maintaining multiple components requires similar initial setting up, labor and equipment. Here, the concept of "set-up cost" [49] is employed to both cases of time and cost. In addition, it is even more economical when repairing multiple identical components in the same current state (condition) a to the same properly working state b. This is because there are not only the share of setting up but also the advantages of ordering materials (batch order) and using the same process of performing maintenance on those identical components. Additional cost and time savings for this type of repair should be addressed. Therefore, we consider two types of time and cost savings of repairing multiple components in series-parallel systems as follows:

1. Time and cost savings due to the share of setting up.

2. Additional reduction time and cost of repairing multiple identical components in a subsystem from the same current state a to the same properly working state b.

In the section below we will focus on formulating the total actual repair cost for a selective maintenance strategy based on the single repair cost matrix in (3.5) with the consideration of two types of cost saving above. Once the total repair cost is determined, the total maintenance time of the system can be calculated accordingly.

The savings due to the share of setting up are assumed to be fixed per component since it is associated with the process of preparation for maintenance such as erecting, dismantling and reassembling the system, etc. Thus, in the first type of dependency, a fixed amount of "set-up cost", Δc , is saved whenever an additional component is selected in a selective maintenance strategy (Figure 3.2). The more components to be maintained, the more money is saved due to the share of setting up. If N_r components in the system are maintained in a selective maintenance strategy, the total amount of money saved due to the share of setting up will be (N_r = c_r .



Figure 3.2 The maintenance cost (time) vs. number of repaired components when there is the share of setting up

Now, let's consider repairing m identical multi-state components in a subsystem i with $c \ a \ b$ being the cost for individually repairing each component from state a to state b. In multiple repairs of identical components, the same technology and equipment can be utilized, and the maintenance is more efficient in repetitive tasks. Thus, in addition to the cost saved by setting up sharing, we introduce a cost saving coefficient, $f \ a \ b$, to represent the repairing cost dependency of multiple identical components in subsystem i. Denote $c \ a \ b$ to be the adjusted repair cost for an additional component in subsystem ifrom state a to state b. The calculations of total maintenance cost and the saved amount due to each type of dependencies are illustrated in Figure 3.3. The adjusted repair cost and the saved amount in addition to a fixed set-up cost for repairing a component from state a to state b are calculated by (3.8) and (3.9) respectively.

$$c \ a \ b \qquad f \ a \ b \qquad c \qquad (3.8)$$

$$c \ a \ b \ c \ a \ b \ c \ a \ b \ c \ a \ b \ (3.9)$$

From (3.8), we can form an adjusted repair cost matrix for a component in each subsystem i, C; each element in this matrix is a function of f and Δc . The total adjusted cost for repairing m identical components from state a to state b can be computed as in (3.10).

When maintaining identical components simultaneously, we need a constraint that the adjusted repair time, c', is greater than or equal to 0. This is equivalent to

$$f \ a \ b \ge \frac{\Delta c}{c \ a \ b}$$
. Thus, $f \ a \ b$ can take any value between $\frac{\Delta c}{c \ a \ b}$ and 1.



Figure 3.3 The maintenance cost when repairing identical components

The total system maintenance cost is, then, the summation of total adjusted repair cost of each component. It is a function of the decision variables X_{\downarrow} , the amount of saved money due to the share of setting up - Δc_{\downarrow} , the cost saving coefficients - f_{\downarrow} and the components' state at the time of entering and exiting the maintenance depot.

$$C X = \frac{M}{i} C X Y c f$$
(3.11)

In (3.11), C X Y c f is the adjusted repair cost of component (i,j) which is equivalent to c a b in the explanation above. In the selective maintenance problem for the series-parallel system considering economic dependence, we need an assumption that the components in the same subsystem have to be maintained in a group to gain the benefits of time and cost savings. However, in the process of calculation, it is no doubt to assume a subsystem is repaired before another sub-system since all the results on the system reliabilities, cost and time are not affected. With this assumption, if there are multiple components in different sub-systems subjected to be maintained in a selective maintenance strategy, the value of the adjusted repairing for the first component is always equal to the cost of the single repair for that component. For the next component, $c \ a \ b$ is calculated as in (3.12).

$$c \ a \ b \qquad \begin{pmatrix} f & c \ a \ b & c \\ c & a \ b & c \end{pmatrix} \qquad \begin{array}{c} \text{``e is identical repair} \\ c & a \ b & c \end{array} \qquad \begin{array}{c} (3.12) \end{array}$$

Similarly, the total system maintenance time for a selective maintenance strategy can be obtained if the time saved due to the share of setting up - Δt , the time dependent coefficients - f, and the state of component at the time of entering the maintenance depot are known.

$$T X = \frac{M}{i} T X Y t f$$
(3.13)

where T_{j} is the adjusted repair time for component j in subsystem i when the repairs of components are dependent.

In order to understand more about the proposed saving model, we also investigate other saving mechanisms and their effects on the selective maintenance for the multi-state series-parallel system. The saving patterns of performing multiple activities when task repetitions take place will be investigated and compared to our saving model. The basic saving model is known as "power model" or "Log-linear model" [56]. It has the following mathematical representation:

$$C m = C \times m^{-\beta} \operatorname{or} \log C m = C - \beta \quad m, \qquad (3.14)$$

where C is the cost (time) of the first unit, C(m) is the average cost (time) of m units, and β is an exponent indicating the rate of productivity improvement, 0 1. $\beta = 0$ means that there is no advantage of performing multiple tasks and when β is close to 1, the benefit of multiple tasks execution is larger.

From the basic model in Equation (3.14), several models have been developed to measure the average unit cost/time as a function of the number of units produced. These models are summarized in [57]. Here, we will consider three typical saving patterns: the Log-linear, Plateau and Exponential models.

$$C \ m \ = C \ + C \ m^{-\beta} \tag{3.15}$$

$$C m = C m^{-\beta} e \tag{3.16}$$

The Plateau model in (3.15) is often applied when there is a limit of the unit cost as x

increases to a very big value. C_p is a parameter representing the plateau limit of the average unit cost. In (3.16), c is another parameter, usually a constant that reflects the upturn effect on the cost when the number of units increases to a considerably large value.

From the average unit cost, we can find the total cost of repairing m identical components, C_{\perp} , in a sub-system of the series-parallel system. Table 3.1 summarizes C_{\perp} calculated from the proposed model and three saving models in the literature.

Model	Average cost of m identical components	Total cost of repairing m identical components	
Log-linear	$C \ m^{-eta}$	C $C m$	
Plateau	$C + C m^{-\beta}$	C Cm Cm	
Exponential	$Cm^{-eta} e$	C C m e	
Proposed model	$\begin{bmatrix} C + m - & C \end{bmatrix} m$	C C m C	

Table 3.1 Summary of different cost saving models of repairing m identical components

In the calculation of average cost of x units for the proposed model in Table 3.1, we use C as the adjusted repair cost, which can be computed in the same way as in (3.12). We use three saving patterns in Table 3.1 for describing the dependent relationship between the cost/time of multiple repairs and the number of components involved in each sub-system. The results of selective maintenance for multi-state series-parallel systems

and discussions will be provided in Section 3.4.

3.2.4 Selective maintenance optimization models

Cassady et al. [19] proposed mathematical programming models for optimizing selective maintenance of binary systems. In this section, we extend those models to the multi-state case. The selective maintenance problem for multi-state series parallel system is a non-linear integer programming problem with known components' characteristics such as the state of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot, the time and cost of single repair, time and cost savings of multiple repair, state probability distribution of each component in the next mission.

In a very popular selective maintenance problem, the maintenance crews have to find what maintenance activities associated with each component to be performed to achieve the maintenance objective of increasing the system reliability under limitation of resources such as time and cost. This type of problem can be formulated as follows:

P3.1: Maximize
$$f = R_{i} d = \prod_{i=1}^{M} \left(-\prod_{j=1}^{N} \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} p_{i} X_{j} b \right)$$
 (3.17)

Subject to:
$$T(X) \le T_0$$
 (3.18)

$$C(X) \le C_0 \tag{3.19}$$

$$Y_{ij} \le X_{ij} \le K \tag{3.20}$$

$$X_{ij} ext{ is integer, } i=1,2,...,M, \ j=1,2,...,N_i$$
 (3.21)

In the model, the objective function (3.17) is to maximize the reliability of the system at a specified working level d, which has been formulated in Section 3.2.2. There are two types of constraints in (3.18) and (3.19) which restrict the total time and cost for all maintenance activities within available time, T_0 , and budget, C_0 . The component repair time and cost may be or may be not independent. We can find the total time and cost for maintaining the system to desired working level as explained in Section 3.2.3. The decision variables, X_{ij} , i M j N are the states of components at the time of exiting the maintenance depot. Since the maintenance activities do not worsen the state of the components, X_{ij} must be integer value between Y_{ij} and the maximum state K for all i M j N.

The decision makers can use the problem **P3.1** when they have information about their available time and budget and the system reliability is very critical. The solution of **P3.1** gives us the most reliable system with on-hand resources. In practice, we may face many other situations of the principal objective and resource availability. When the total completion time is the most important issue it is treated as the objective of the selective maintenance problem. Then, the system reliability and cost are two constraints, and we have an alternative **P3.2**. Similarly, another derivation, **P3.3**, can be obtained as follows:

P3.2: Minimize
$$f T X$$
 (3.22)

Subject to:
$$R_s(X) \ge R_0$$
 (3.23)

$$C(X) \le C_0 \tag{3.19}$$

$$Y_{ij} \le X_{ij} \le K \tag{3.20}$$

$$X_{ij} ext{ is integer}, \; i{=}1,2,...,M, \; j=1,2,...,N_i$$

P3.3: Minimize
$$f C X$$
 (3.24)

Subject to:
$$R_s(X) \ge R_0$$
 (3.23)

$$T(X) \le T_{\theta} \tag{3.18}$$

$$Y_{ij} \le X_{ij} \le K \tag{3.20}$$

$$X_{ij} \ {
m is \ integer}, \ i{=}1,2,...,M, \ j=1,2,...,N_i \ \qquad (3.21)$$

In the problems **P3.2** and **P3.3**, the constraint (3.23) requires the reliability of the system to be greater than or equal to a specified level R_0 . Both $R_s(X)$ and R_0 are vectors with K-dimension; each dimension is the probability that the multi-state system is at the corresponding state or above.

For an extremely urgent situation, we have to maintain the system to attain a certain reliability level as soon as possible regardless of how costly it is. In this case, the constraints on cost will be released and a special case of problem **P3.2** can be derived:

P3.4: Minimize
$$f T X$$
 (3.22)

Subject to:
$$R_s(X) \ge R_0$$
 (3.25)

$$Y_{ij} \le X_{ij} \le K \tag{3.20}$$

$$X_{ij} ext{ is integer}, \ i=1,2,...,M, \ j=1,2,...,N_i$$
 (3.21)

It is also noted that many other derivations of these models can be obtained. Depending on the principal purpose of the maintenance and available information, the maintenance decision makers can select the most appropriate models and thereby understand what actions should be done based on his/her on-hand conditions.

The selective maintenance optimization problem is to find the optimal state combination of all components in the MSS. Its complexity lies in the size of the solution space, i.e. the number of possible state combinations. For each component *i*, we need to search for all possible states between Y_i and K inclusive. Thus, the total number of possible solutions is $\prod_{i=1}^{n} (K - Y + i) = O_{i}K_{i}$. For small size problems, e.g. $n \leq K < i$, it is possible to enumerate all possible solutions and find the optimal one. However, for larger size problems, it may take a long time to enumerate all possible solution. Heuristic or evolutionary computational methods are recommended to find a relatively good solution with less computational effort.

3.3 Solution approach

In view of the selective maintenance problem complexity, it is apparent that the

enumeration approach can only be used for a small-sized selective maintenance problem for MSS. However, when the size of the problem is large, it is not practical to enumerate all the possible solutions and compare them. Heuristic or meta-heuristic methods should be used in this case to find optimal or near optimal solutions.

In this thesis, Genetic Algorithm (GA) is used to solve the proposed selective maintenance models. GA was also used in many previous maintenance optimization and selective maintenance studies and it has proved to be efficient [6] [34] [38]. The reason for using GA as the solution approach is that GA is relatively simple and easy to use for many practitioners. In addition, the proposed selective maintenance model is a combinatorial optimization problem and GA is very well suited for combinatorial optimization with a high dimensional searching space [59]. Lastly, GA is also highly adapted to problems with integer variables while the selective maintenance problem belongs to a class of non-linear integer optimization model.

In this Section, we will provide a detailed solution representation for the selective maintenance problem, a general procedure of GA, and parameters setting in GA program. Further details on GA searching evolution and genetic operators' mechanisms can be found in [58] and [59].

3.3.1 Solution representation

Solution representation is one of the most important parts in the implementation of

genetic algorithm. Let n be the total number of components in the system, $n \ N \ N \ N$ The detail of solution representation is illustrated in Figure 3.4. Each chromosome consists of n genes; each gene is an integer number between 0 and Kwhich represents the state of the corresponding component at the end of the maintenance break.

All elements in the vector of components' state are ordered from subsystem 1 to subsystem M and the decision variable, X_{j} $i = N_{j} = M$, can be transformed to the state vector X_{j} i = n. Each state vector is considered as a solution of the proposed selective maintenance problem. If the states of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot are known and can be rewritten in vector form, Y_{j} i n, we can use GA to find the best combination of the components' outcome states after the maintenance break for the proposed optimal selective maintenance problem.



Figure 3.4 Solution representation

3.3.2 General procedure and implementation of GA

GA starts by randomly initializing a population of N chromosomes in the first generation. Each chromosome represents a possible solution to the selective maintenance problem. Since each gene of a chromosome represents the state of the corresponding component, we use a random generator to create each integer number in each gene within the range from Y_i to M. The fitness function, i.e. the objective function, is used to evaluate the chromosomes, which allows a particular chromosome to be ranked against all the others. After computing the fitness values of the individuals, existing solutions are recombined using crossover, mutation, and reproduction procedures, to obtain new ones. The genetic algorithm terminates when a pre-specified number of generations is attained or a given time limit is over.

In the GA program, four important parameters need to be tuned, namely population size, number of GA iterations, crossover probability, and mutation probability. The only crossover type considered is one-point crossover. Uniform mutation and tournament selection are used in the GA program. While testing a parameter, the other parameters are fixed using the best known value. The crossover and mutation probabilities were tuned with increment of 0.05 between 0.7 to 0.95 and 0.05 to 0.15 respectively. The best probability with best performance was selected. The population size and the number of GA iterations are selected in order to balance the efficiency and the accuracy of the program rather than trying to find the optimal solution. After many trials, the reasonably good parameters setting is shown in Table 3.2.

GA Parameters	Value/ Probability	Туре	
Population size	50	-	
Crossover	0.8	Single point	
Mutation	0.1	Uniform	
Selection	-	Tournament	
Number of GA iterations (Stopping criteria)	100	-	

Table 3.2 GA parameters setting

3.4 Illustrative examples, results and discussion

Example 3.1: Considering a multi-state series-parallel system (Figure 3.5) with K = 3, M = 3, $N_1 = 3$, $N_2 = 2$, $N_3 = 4$, the given states of components when entering the maintenance depot are:

For each *i.i.d.* component in subsystem *i*, i=1, 2, 3, the transition probability matrices and corresponding cost and time matrices for each individual maintenance activity are:

The repairing time and cost for each component are independent. The required level of the system at the end of the next operating mission is d = 3. We want to find the maximum reliability of the system in the next mission with available time $T_0 = 25$ time units, and total allowed budget $C_0 = 45$ cost units.



Figure 3.5 Series-parallel system in Example 3.1

By running the GA program to solve problem **P1** to find the optimal reliability of the system at state d = 3, we obtain X ______ 3 3 3 3 0 2 3 3 , that is, we select to repair all components in subsystem 1 and 2 to state 3, do nothing to the first two components in subsystem 3 and repair the last two components in subsystem 3 to state 3.

Subsystem i	Component j			
	1	2	3	4
1	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$0 \rightarrow 3$	$1 \rightarrow 3$	-
2	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	-	-
3	0 - 0	2 - 2	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$1 \rightarrow 3$

Table 3.3 The optimal maintenance actions for all components when repairs of components are independent (Problem P3.1)

The total cost for all maintenance activities is 44 cost units (≤ 45) and the total maintenance time is 22 (≤ 25) time units. Recall that $R_s(d)$ is the probability of the system state being in state d or above in the next operating mission, we obtained the system optimal reliability at level 3, $R_s(3) = 0.85995$. The probabilities that the system will be at least in state 1 and 2 in the next mission are 0.99725 and 0.98222 respectively.
d	1	2	3
$R_s(d) = \Pr(\phi_s \geq d)$	0.99725	0.98222	0.85995

Table 3.4 The probability of the system being in state k or above in the next operating mission (Problem P3.1)

To analyze the quality of the GA results, we have run the GA 10 times with the setting in Table 3.2 for Example 3.1. In addition, the enumeration approach of all possible solutions is also used to find the optimal solution in this example since the size of the problem in this example is not too big. A summary of results is shown in the following Table 3.5.

Table 3.5 Summary on the quality of GA results

Best objective function	Worst objective function	Optimality	Ave. difference in objective function	Ave. CPU time (seconds)
0.85995	0.8190	8/10	0.00818	2.67283

It is seen that GA can produce very good results in a reasonable short amount of time. In Example 3.1, solving problem **P3.1** helps us find the most reliable system within available resources. Now, we want to investigate what maintenance actions should be implemented when the total maintenance time is the most critical issue. This situation is usually encountered in practice when a tight deadline is required in production or the next mission needs to be started as soon as possible. Example 3.2 is devoted to the illustration of this situation. With this example, the decision makers can find the best maintenance actions when time is the most critical while the required system reliability level is still close to the achieved results in Table 3.4.

Example 3.2: Consider the system in Example 3.1. Find the selective maintenance strategy that we can finish as soon as possible without any requirement on budget, but the system reliability at each level must be greater than $R_0(1) = 0.99$, $R_0(2) = 0.96$, $R_0(3) = 0.85$.

Here, the cost constraint is released and we deal with problem **P3.4** to minimize the total completion time of all selective maintenance activities with the constraint of achieving the required reliability. The solution of GA program results the optimal completion time of **18 time units**. The vector state of all components at the end of the maintenance break is: X = 1 3 3 3 0 3 3 3.

Table 3.6 The optimal maintenance actions for all components when repairs of components are independent (Problem P3.4)

Subsystem		Component j												
i	1	2	3	4										
1	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$0 \rightarrow 1$	$1 \rightarrow 3$	-										
2	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	-	-										
3	0 - 0	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$1 \rightarrow 3$										

In comparison with Problem **P3.1** in Example 3.1, there are two different maintenance activities on component (1,2) and (3,2). Component (1,2) is repaired to state 1 and

component (2,3) is repaired to the perfect working state 3; the other components in the system receive similar maintenance actions as in the previous example. The total cost of this strategy is 48 cost units, which indicates that we need more budget for all maintenance actions in comparison with the solution in Problem **P3.1**. The reliability of the system at level d = 3 is $R_s(3) = 0.8757$ which is, interestingly, greater than the optimal reliability in Example 3.1. The achieved reliability at each level satisfying the reliability constraints is provided in Table 3.7.

Table 3.7 The probability of the system being in state k or above when repairs of components are independent (Problem P3.4)

d	1	2	3
$R_s(d) = \Pr(\phi_s \geq d)$	0.99688	0.96446	0.8757

Example 3.3: Consider the problem in Example 3.1 again, but there are advantages of repairing multiple components, i.e. the components are economically dependent. The time and cost savings for each component due to the share of setting up of 0.4 time units and 0.8 cost units; the cost saving coefficients of components in subsystem 1, 2, 3 are 0.7, 0.6, 0.45; and the time saving coefficients of components in subsystem 1, 2, 3 are 0.5, 0.4, 0.3 respectively.

Now, we have to deal with Problem **P3.1** to find the most reliable system with the available time and cost of 25 and 45 respectively. The GA program gives the state vector of components at the time of exiting the maintenance depot as follows:

$X \qquad 3 \ 3 \ 3 \ 3 \ 1 \ 3 \ 3 \ 3$

Subsystem		Component j												
i	1	2	3	4										
1	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$0 \rightarrow 3$	$1 \rightarrow 3$	-										
2	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	-	-										
3	$0 \rightarrow 1$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$2 \rightarrow 3$	$1 \rightarrow 3$										

Table 3.8 The optimal maintenance actions for all components when repairs of components are dependent (Problem P3.1)

In this strategy, we repair the first component in subsystem 3 to state 1 and all other components to the best condition. In comparison with problem **P3.1** in Example 3.1, there are two more maintenance actions which can be taken on components (3,1) and (3,2) within available resources.

Due to the time and cost savings of repairing multiple components, the achieved reliability of the system at each level (see Table 3.9) is much higher than the results in Example 3.1.

Table 3.9 The probability of the system being in state k or above when repairs of components are dependent

d	1	2	3
$R_s(d) = \Pr(\phi_s \geq d)$	0.99734	0.98333	0.91949

Example 3.4: In this example, we use three different saving models in section 3.2.3.2 for

modeling the economic dependence when repairing multiple identical components in a sub-system. The input data from Example 3.3 is used.

We use the Matlab program to solve the selective maintenance problem to get the most reliable system in the next mission within available time of $T_6=25$ units and budget of $C_6=45$ units. In this example, the exponents for the cost and time savings, $\beta_C^i = \frac{i}{T}$, are set based on $f_1 = c_1 - t_1$ so that the adjusted repair cost/time of a component from the proposed model is equivalent to the amount of _cost/time for repairing an additional identical component in a sub-system from Equation (3.14). The obtained results of vector \mathbf{X} from GA, the total time and cost used for maintenance and the system reliabilities with corresponding parameters used in each model are shown in Table 3.10.

The first five elements in state vectors, X(1) to X(5), at the time of exiting the maintenance depot are similar in all four models, i.e. the maintenance actions for these components are exactly the same. In the maintenance strategy from the proposed model, one additional maintenance action (corresponding to X(6)) can be performed in comparison with Log-linear and Plateau models and two more maintenance actions (corresponding to X(6) and X(9)) can be performed in comparison with the Exponential model. The total maintenance cost and time spending in the proposed model is higher than in the other models (43.75 cost unit and 20.7 time units), and this brings the system to a state with higher system reliabilities of 0.99734, 0.98333, 0.91949 at levels 1, 2, and 3 respectively.

Model			T	Vec	cto	r X	Z			C(X)	T(X)	$R_s(1)$	$R_s(2)$	$R_s(3)$
Log-linear	[3	3	3	3	3	0	3	3	3_	41.15	19.9	0.9973	0.98333	0.91949
$\Prlateau \ (C_p = 0.1C_1)$	[3	3	3	3	3	0	3	3	3_	43.55	20.2	0.9973	0.98333	0.91949
Exponential (c=0.1)	[3	3	3	3	3	0	3	3	2_	41.21	18.69	0.99725	0.98222	0.85995
Proposed model	[3	3	3	3	3	1	3	3	3_	43.75	20.7	0.99734	0.98333	0.91949

Table 3.10 Results of different saving models

To explain the differences in the results in Table 3.10, it is observed that the cost saving of a component in sub-system *i* is characterized by two parameters, f_{\perp} and Δc , in the proposed model. Meanwhile, the other saving models describe the economic dependence relationship using a power function and parameter β . These models can only describe the saving mechanism within a sub-system (when the components are identical), while the proposed model also addresses the economic dependence when repairing components in different sub-systems. This is close to the practical situation since the time and cost of doing common preparation and maintenance activities on the serial-parallel system such as erecting, cleaning, doing inspections, lubricating, etc. can be saved even with different types of components.

To investigate the time and cost savings versus the number of components involved in a maintenance strategy, we study the selective maintenance strategy resulting from Example 3.3 for independent repair and dependent repair cases. Figures 3.6 and 3.7 show how the maintenance time and cost for the series-parallel system are saved.



Figure 3.6 Total maintenance time of repairing dependent components vs. independent components



Figure 3.7 Total maintenance cost of repairing dependent components vs. independent components

Generally, we only need an assumption that the components in the same sub-system have to be maintained in a group to gain the benefits of time and cost savings. In Figures 3.6 and 3.7, we also assume that the components are maintained in an order from the first sub-system to the last sub-system. In this example, there are 9 components which are subjected to be maintained in the maintenance scenario. When the repairs of components are dependent, the maintenance time and cost are smaller than those in the case of independent repairs. The different amounts of required resources between the two cases are more considerable as the number of repaired components increases. To repair all components in this maintenance strategy, the total required time and cost are just 20.7 time units and 43.75 cost units when repairs of components are dependent in comparison with 24 time units and 56 cost units in the case of independent repairs between components.

3.5 Concluding remarks

This chapter documents the selective maintenance model for multi-state series-parallel system with economic dependence. In the optimization models, total system maintenance cost, completion time or system reliability can be treated either as objective or as constraint; several alternative optimization models are derived. Both time and cost savings can be realized when several components are maintained together in a selective maintenance strategy. Economic dependence is analyzed in multi-state contexts based on two types of time and cost savings: (i.) the share of setting up and (ii.) the advantage of repairing multiple identical components in series-parallel systems simultaneously. The illustrative examples show that the maintenance schedulers may perform different maintenance actions on the system depending on the main objective and the availability of resources.

In selective maintenance of multi-component systems, the amount of resource savings is system and component specific, i.e. it depends on the nature of the system, number of components and type of components involved. By dividing the type of time and cost savings into fixed (the share of the setting up) and variable (multiple identical repairs), the proposed model can capture both the system features and the component specific features. Our main objective is to investigate the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems under the effect of this saving mechanism. In general, the selective maintenance model in this chapter can help the maintenance manager determine the best maintenance strategy to achieve a reliable system and allocate the resources effectively.

CHAPTER 4

SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE Systems with Structural Dependence

This chapter focuses on the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems with structural and economic dependence. In a multi-component system, components can structurally form multiple hierarchical levels and dependence groups. We formulate the structural dependence between components considering assembly precedence relationships using a directed graph. A backward search algorithm is proposed to determine an assembly sequence for a selective maintenance scenario. This chapter is based on a submitted paper to Reliability Engineering and System Safety [60].

4.1 Introduction

In maintenance of multi-component systems, components may interact with each other in different ways. Based on the effect on the lifetime distribution of components, the interaction or dependence can be classified into two main categories. In the first category, dependence does not affect the degradation of components. This type of dependence represents the relationships between components during the implementation of maintenance activities and often occurs in maintenance models with economic or structural dependence. As investigated in Chapter 3, economic dependence in maintenance has been addressed in several maintenance models [13], [31], [42]–[48], [50]–[52], [61]. Structural dependence exists when the components form a structural group and the maintenance of a component implies the maintenance of other components or at least dismantling them [15], [39], [62]–[66]. In the second category, dependence relates to the degradation of components when they are in operation, and thus, the lifetime distributions of components will be affected. The reason for this degradation dependence may come from another component in the system or from variable operating conditions.

In this chapter, we will focus on the first case of dependence as described above. The selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems with both structural and economic dependence will be investigated. The degradations of components in an operating mission are assumed to be independent.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Existing studies on maintenance of systems with structural dependence are reviewed in Section 4.2. The system model and a selective maintenance model are presented in Section 4.3. Illustrative examples,

numerical results, and analysis are provided in Section 4.4 and a concluding remark of this chapter is presented in the Section 4.5.

4.2 Literature review

Structural dependence means that components form a structural group, and repairing a component requires intervention actions to other components. Early studies on structural dependence focus on replacement policy [15], [62]. In these studies, it is suggested that the system is built in a vertical structure of modules, and replacing a component at a higher level requires replacing all the components at its lower levels. The problem is whether to replace the whole system or replace a sub-assembly or just a single component when that single component fails. Zhou et al [39] considered a more realistic system model given the relationship of components in a hierarchical structure, where the components can have relationships with others at both higher or lower levels and at the same level. A preventive maintenance time for the system is optimized using the Monte Carlo simulation method. Jia [63] divided a multi-component system into m modules and assumed that replacing a component requires dismantling all components in the same module, so structural dependence is the shared cost of dismantling and re-assembling components. The shared cost of dismantling and re-assembling in [63] can also be considered as the "set-up" cost in other economic maintenance models. Horenbeek and Pintelon [64] added another cost element to the set-up cost to represent the structural dependence. The limitation of [63] and [64] is the simplification of the concept of structural dependence so that it can be treated using a single parameter. However, the system becomes more and more complicated and it may be decomposed into sub-systems, several sub-assemblies, parts and components. Thus, the idea of using a tree-like structure to represent multiple hierarchy levels of set-up was presented in [67]. There also exists a disassembly sequence between components in the system, so disassembling all preceding components in a disassembly sequence is required before maintaining a component. The disassembly sequence planning was also investigated and summarized in [68]–[70]. However, these studies [67]–[70] focus on the grouping or the disassembly sequencing problems given a pre-scheduled maintenance action rather than an optimal maintenance model with difference maintenance activities on the system.

There have also been specific maintenance models with structural dependence. Yan et al. [65] considered structural dependence in maintenance scheduling problems. When a component fails, a number of related components need to be shut down for replacing the failed component. This model is specifically applied to a system with the assumption that the number of shutdown components proportionally increases the downtime cost of the system. Dekker et al. [66] studied the road maintenance problems, where the road is divided into carriage ways, lanes and small segments. Different failure mechanisms and maintenance actions can be applied to a small segment, but some maintenance packages are restricted to "large-scale" or "junction-to-junction" maintenance. Thus, once the maintenance package is needed for a segment, the whole set of segments have to be considered. In the literature, structural dependence is tied with specific applications or simplified such that another form of set-up cost can be used. For those considering the replacement policies, components are assumed to be "as good as new" after replacement and a single preventive replacement time is optimized. None of the papers considered different maintenance actions or different working levels a component may be at. In addition, when the resources for maintenance are limited and there are multiple hierarchical levels with a disassembly sequence in the system, the questions raised are which components or group of components should be selected, and what maintenance actions should be performed to optimize the system performance in the next mission. Thus, in this chapter, we will explore the selective maintenance of multi-state series systems with structural dependence. Selective maintenance policy applies when the whole system is maintained at the maintenance depot and the joint maintenance of components naturally exists. Thus, economic dependence is also considered. In summary, the main focus of this Chapter is as follows.

- Both economic dependence and structural dependence are considered in the system. Economic dependence simply means the share of the set-up, while structural dependence relates to the sequence of disassembling components when implementing maintenance activities on the system.
- The multi-level hierarchical relationship of disassembling components is to be recognized in the maintenance model.

• The optimal selective maintenance policy for multi-state components and structural dependence is investigated.

4.3 Problem formulation

4.3.1 The system model

The multi-state system in this study has n multi-state components connected in series (Figure 4.1). The system state is determined as the minimum state of its components.



Figure 4.1 A series system

Some components may be structural dependent so that they form multiple hierarchy levels. Each level may contain several groups of components and there is disassembly sequence of components/groups of components. The precedence relations govern the order of disassembling components, which is represented by a directed graph [39] as in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 A directed graph representing the precedence relations

The directed graph is a representation graph with nodes and edges modeling the system and precedence relations between its components. There are three different types of nodes, including root node or node "0" – which represents the system, intermediate nodes or nodes with letters – which represent sub-assemblies, and leaf nodes or nodes with numbers – which represent the components. The root and intermediate nodes can be further broken down into their children nodes, but there is no further breakdown for leaf nodes. The edges may be directed or undirected to represent the relationship between nodes. A directed edge is used when there is a sequence of assembly relationship. It is a "father-son" relationship between two nodes in different levels or a sequence order from one node to another in the same level following the direction of the arrow. The undirected edge between two nodes at the same level means the two nodes are mutually restricted and disassembling one means disassembling the other.

In the selective maintenance problem, the maintenance manager has to determine which components to maintain and how to maintain each component in the system to ensure the completion of the next mission within available budget C_0 and available time T_0 . In order to formulate the selective maintenance problem, we need to determine the system reliability as well as the maintenance resources, i.e. cost and time, associated with a selective maintenance scenario. These are to be presented in Sections 4.3.2. and 4.3.3 respectively.

4.3.2 Component state distribution and the system reliability

The multi-state component degrades along with the time of use. Similar to Chapter 3, we assume that the probability for component i at a pre-specified state a at the beginning of the next mission degrading to a state b at the end of the next mission, $p_i(a,b)$, is given. the transition probability matrix of component i in the operating mission is as in Equation (4.1).

$$P \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ n & n & 0 \\ & & & i \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ p \ K & p \ K & p \ K K \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.1)

We also have:

$$\sum_{b=}^{K} p \ a \ b = \sum_{b=}^{a} p \ a \ b = for \ a = K$$
(4.2)

The system reliability at the end of the next mission meeting a specified demand level d, $R_s(d)$, is the probability that the system will complete the next mission at the required working level or state level d. In other words, the system reliability is the probability that the state of the system at the end of the next mission, ϕ_s , is greater or equal to d. With an assumption that the degradations of components are independent, it can be computed using the following equation.

$$R_{a} d = \phi_{a} \ge d = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \quad s_{i} \ge d = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \quad - \quad s_{i} < d = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(-\sum_{i=1}^{d} p_{i} X_{i} b \right)$$
(4.3)

where s_i is the state of component *i* at the end of the next mission.

4.3.3 Maintenance cost and time

3.3.2.1 Individual component maintenance time and cost

In the selective maintenance problem, the system and its components are maintained at the maintenance depot within the available resources. The maintenance decision maker has to select components and maintain them to states so that the system will meet the reliability requirement in the next operating mission. If components are already disassembled, the required time and cost for individually maintaining a component *i* from state *a* to state *b*, b > a, are known. Let $t_i(a,b)$ and $c_i(a,b)$ be the individual maintenance time and cost of component *i* from state *a* to state *b*. Similar to Chapter 3, they are arranged in matrix form as in (4.4) and (4.5) respectively.

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & t & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{i} \qquad (4.4)$$

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \end{bmatrix}^{i} \qquad (4.5)$$

The maintenance time and cost can be treated similarly. In the following sections, we will formulate the total system maintenance time related to the selective maintenance problem; the maintenance cost can be formulated in the same way if there is no further explanation.

3.3.2.2 Disassembly time and cost

Different from Chapter 3, here we consider the disassembly and assembly time for each component subjected to maintenance in a selective maintenance strategy. The maintenance of a component includes a process of disassembling the component, repairing/replacing the component, and putting it back to the system. Here, we use the term "disassembly time" to represent the time related to both processes of disassembling and re-assembling the component. Considering two nodes i and j, which can be either

letters or numbers, they are said to have a precedence relationship if there exists a directed or undirected edge between them. In the directed graph, we define the precedence relation between two nodes i and j, r(i,j), as follows.

$$r \ i \ j = \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if there is no edge between } i & j \\ -1 & \text{if there is a directed edge from } i & j \\ 1, & \text{if there is a directed edge from } j & i \\ 2, & \text{if there is an undirected edge between } i & j \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

For each component i, the t is the disassembly time for component i itself. A set of nodes that needs to be disassembled from the root node to node i inclusive forms a disassembly path for node i it is noted that a leaf node, i.e. a component, always appears in its own disassembly path. Two leaf nodes are structurally dependent if they **both** appear in at least one assembly path among the two assembly paths.

To maintain a component *i*, we need to consider the cumulative disassembly time of all nodes in its disassembly path. The method to find the disassembly path of a component can be found in [39]. However, in selective maintenance, we need to calculate the total disassembly time for the system with a given maintenance scenario. Thus, one needs to find the disassembly path of all components in each possible selected maintenance strategy, DP_s . We propose a backward search algorithm to find the disassembly path for the system to perform a maintenance strategy, DP_s , as follows.

1. Starting from a leaf node i representing a component in the selective

maintenance scenario, search for nodes j in the same and upper levels.

- 2. If i is not in DP_s , add i to DP_s
- 3. Check if r(i,j) > 0, i.e. node j is in the assembly path of node i. If r(i,j) > 0and j is not in DP_s , then add j to a position before i in the system disassembly path DP_s .
- 4. If j is in the disassembly path of node i, the same search is performed from node j for all its precedence nodes in the same and upper levels.
- 5. When the root node is reached, we move to the next leaf node in the selective maintenance strategy in the next level and set the searching set of all nodes in the directed graph excluding DP_s and return to step 2.
- 6. The procedure stops when all nodes in the SM scenario are considered.

The key part of the algorithm is to use the precedence relation, $\tau(i,j)$, defined in Equation (4.6), to search for nodes to be added in the system disassembly path, DP_s . If $\tau(i,j) > 0$, i.e. $\tau(i,j) \in \{1, 2\}$, node *i* must either be a child of node *j* or be mutually restricted to *j*. Thus, *j* must be disassembled before *i*, i.e. *j* is in the disassembly path if *i* is maintained. On the other hand, if $\tau(i,j) < 0$, i.e. $\tau(i,j) \in \{-1, 0\}$, there is no requirement of disassembling *j* prior to disassembling *i*. For each component *i* in a selective maintenance scenario, the closed loop from step 2 to step 5 is performed with the stopping criteria that the root node is reached, i.e. a correct disassembly sequence of component *i* is found. All the components in the selective maintenance scenario are searched to complete the whole system disassembly path. The procedure is illustrated in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3 The Back-ward search algorithm

Once the disassembly path for a selective maintenance strategy is determined, the total disassembly time of the system, then, can be calculated using Equation (4.7).

$$T \qquad t \qquad (4.7)$$

where t_j is the disassembly time of node j itself. Once the disassembly time is determined, the disassembly cost can be calculated accordingly based on the disassembly cost per unit time c_d .

$$C = c T$$
 (4.8)

3.3.2.3 The total system maintenance time and cost

In selective maintenance, there are often multiple components to be maintained at the same time. Since the precedence relations exist in the system, the maintenance of component *i* requires disassembling all components in its precedence relations. This directly affects the maintenance resources and the selective maintenance decision-making. On the other hand, it may be a good idea for joint-maintenance of the components which can save resources related to the maintenance process such as labor, materials, etc. Thus, one needs to determine the total resources for maintaining the whole system including the maintenance, disassembly as well as the savings related to maintaining multiple components in the system. Specifically, the total system maintenance time, T, is the total maintenance time of each individual component, T_M , plus the system disassembly time, T_d , and minus the time savings as an advantage of maintaining multiple components in the system, ΔT , as in Equation (4.9).

$$T \quad T \quad T \quad T$$
 (4.9)

In Equation (4.9), T_M is the summation of all individual maintenance times of all

components in the system, which can be calculated using Equation (4.10). The disassembly time is explained in Equation (4.7) and the total time savings, ΔT represents the advantage of the shared utilization of the maintenance process, personnel, and materials when repairing multiple components together. For simplicity, we assume that the amount of time savings depends on the number of selected components in a selective maintenance scenario and a fixed time savings per component Δt . We can calculate ΔT using Equation (4.11).

$$T_{i} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} t_{i} Y_{i} X_{i}$$

$$(4.10)$$

$$\Delta T_{\mu} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta_{\mu} Y_{\mu} X_{\mu} - \right) \Delta t_{\mu}$$
(4.11)

where $\delta_i' Y X = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t & Y & X \\ 0 & \text{if } t & Y & X \end{cases} =$

Delta $\delta_i Y X$ is defined as being equal to 1 if t Y X > 0, i.e. component *i* is selected for maintenance, and being equal to 0 if t Y X = 0, i.e. component *i* is not selected for maintenance. With this definition, the summation $\sum_i \delta_i Y X_i$ is the total number of selected components for maintenance. If there are more than one selected component, and a fixed setup time, Δt_i , is saved per additional component, the total amount of saving will be evaluated exactly using Equation (4.11). Equation (4.9) can be rewritten as:

$$T X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t Y X + T Y X - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta Y X - \right) \Delta t , \qquad (4.12)$$

where the $T_{\perp} Y_{\perp} X_{\perp} = \sum_{j \in DP_{\perp}} t_{\perp}$

Similarly, the total system maintenance cost includes the total maintenance cost of individual components, C_M , plus the system disassembly cost, C_d , and minus the cost savings due to maintaining multiple components together.

$$C X = C_{n} + C_{n} - \Delta C_{n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} + c_{i} T_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} - \right) \Delta c_{i}$$
(4.13)

4.3.4 Selective maintenance optimization model

Assume that the state vector of all components at the time entering the maintenance depot is known as $\mathbf{Y} = [Y_1 \ Y_2 \ \dots \ Y_n]$. We need to determine the state vector of components at the time exiting the maintenance depot $\mathbf{X} = [X_1 \ X_2 \ \dots \ X_n]$. The selective maintenance model in this chapter is for finding the best set of components and maintenance actions to maximize the system reliability in the next mission under limitation of resources including time and cost. The selective maintenance model is formulated as follows:

Subject to:
$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} t \ Y \ X + T \ Y \ X - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta \ Y \ X - \right) \Delta t \le T$$
(4.15)

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} + c_{i} T_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} - \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta_{i} Y_{i} X_{i} - \right) \Delta c_{i} \leq C$$

$$(4.16)$$

$$Y_i \le X_i \le K \tag{4.17}$$

$$X_i \text{ is integer}, \ i=1,2,...,n$$
 (4.18)

In the model, the objective function (4.14) is to maximize the system reliability at a specified working level d, which has been formulated in Section 4.3.2. The two constraints of (4.15) and (4.16) restrict the total maintenance time and cost for the system within available time, T_0 , and budget, C_0 , respectively. The total maintenance time and cost of the system are explained in Section 4.3.3. The states of components at the time of exiting the maintenance depot, X_i , are decision variables. X_i must be an integer value and must be between Y_i and the maximum state K for all i = n as stated in (4.17).

We use genetic algorithm (GA) [58], [71], a widely used meta-heuristic, to solve the selective maintenance optimization model. In GA, we use a chromosome consisting of n genes to represent a solution of the selective maintenance problem. Each element of the state vector corresponds to each gene in GA solution representation. X_{i} is the targeted state of the corresponding component i in the maintenance period. If the states of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot, Y, are known, the multistate

system reliability, maintenance cost and time can be calculated for each vector $\mathbf{X} = [X_1 X_2 \dots X_n]$. Thus, GA can be used to find the best combination of the components' outcome states after the maintenance break for the proposed optimal selective maintenance problem.

4.4 Examples, results and analysis

4.4.1 Example 4.1

This example is for illustration of the backward search algorithm to find the disassembly path of the system for a maintenance scenario. Considering the multi-state system in Figure 4.2 with 12 multi-state components connected in series, each component has 5 possible states, i.e. K=4; the state of each component at the time of entering the maintenance depot and the maintenance scenario of interest are given in Table 4.1; we have to find the disassembly path for the given maintenance scenario.

$Compnent \ \# \ i$	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
$\begin{array}{c} State \ Entering \\ the \ depot \ Y \end{array}$	1	2	0	3	2	1	2	3	2	2	1	3
State exiting the $depot X$	4	2	3	3	2	4	4	3	3	3	4	3

Table 4.1 Initial and end states of components at the maintenance depot

From Table 4.1, the set of selected components in the given selective maintenance scenario is $\{1,3,6,7,9,10,11\}$. The following results are obtained using the backward search algorithm for each component in this set.

- For i=1, DP B A D
- For i=3, DP B A D
- For i=6, DP B A D 6
- For i=7, DP B A D 6
- For i=9, DP B A D C E F
- For i=10, DP B A D C E F
- For i=11, DP B A D C E F

The final disassembly path is DP BAD C EF [, which means that we disassemble the system following the order of the disassembly path from $0 \rightarrow B \rightarrow A \rightarrow D$ and $1 \rightarrow 3 \rightarrow 6$ and $7 \rightarrow C \rightarrow 4$ and $E \rightarrow F$ and $9 \rightarrow 10 \rightarrow 11$ to perform all maintenance activities in this maintenance scenario. If the disassembly time for each individual node is known, the total disassembly time for the system can be calculated using Equation (4.7).

4.4.2 Example 4.2

This example is to analyze the selective maintenance problem for the same system in Example 1 considering economic and structural dependence. The states of components at the time of entering the maintenance depot are the same as in Table 4.1. Individual components' maintenance time, cost and state probability distribution are given in Table 4.2. The information on disassembly time, time and cost savings per component and available resources for maintenance are presented in Tables 4.3 and 4.4. We need to find the maintenance strategy, i.e. the states of all component at the time exiting the maintenance depot $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$, to maximize the system reliability in the next mission within the given available resources.

The problem is coded in Matlab R2014a. The analysis is performed for two cases of the system with assembly precedence relations and without assembly precedence relations. In the first case, the disassembly times in Table 4.3 and backward search algorithm are used to find the disassembly time for the system. For the second case, the summation of disassembly times of all selected individual components in a maintenance strategy is used as the disassembly time of the system. The results on maintenance strategies, resource allocation, and the system reliability at different resource availability are to be discussed in this section.

Table 4.5 presents the main results on the optimal maintenance strategies and the corresponding system reliability at a required state level d=2. X is the optimal exiting state vector when the disassembly of components is restricted by the precedence graph in Figure 1, i.e. the actual assembly dependence is considered, and X is the optimal exiting state vector for the system when the maintenance of a component requires disassembling itself only.

Component		Т	Time (time units)				Cost (cost units)					Probability				
#	state	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4
	0	0	1	3	5	8	0	3	4	7	10	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	2	4	7	0	0	1	4	7	0.2	0.8	0	0	0
$i\!\!=\!\!1$	2	0	0	0	2	5	0	0	0	3	6	0.05	0.1	0.85	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	3	0	0	0	0	3	0.01	0.02	0.05	0.92	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.002	0.01	0.038	0.12	0.83
	0	0	1	2.5	4.5	6	0	2	4	6	8	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	1.5	3.5	5	0	0	2	4	6	0.1	0.9	0	0	0
$i\!\!=\!\!2$	2	0	0	0	2	3.5	0	0	0	2	4	0.01	0.09	0.9	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0	0	2	0.005	0.015	0.03	0.95	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.001	0.005	0.024	0.11	0.86
	0	0	2	3	6	8	0	3	4	7	9	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	1	4	6	0	0	1	4	6	0.15	0.85	0	0	0
i=3	2	0	0	0	3	5	0	0	0	3	5	0.03	0.08	0.89	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	2	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.96	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.005	0.005	0.04	0.15	0.8
	0	0	1.5	3	4	5	0	3.5	6	9	11	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	1.5	2.5	3.5	0	0	2.5	5.5	7.5	0.3	0.7	0	0	0
i=4	2	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	3	5	0.02	0.08	0.9	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	0.005	0.012	0.1	0.883	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.003	0.005	0.012	0.06	0.92
	0	0	1.5	4	6	8	0	4	7	10	14	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	2.5	4.5	6.5	0	0	3	6	10	0.15	0.85	0	0	0
i=5	2	0	0	0	2	4	0	0	0	3	7	0.02	0.03	0.95	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	0	0	4	0.01	0.015	0.025	0.95	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.002	0.008	0.04	0.1	0.85
	0	0	1.5	2	3.5	5	0	2.5	4	6	8	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	0.5	2	3.5	0	0	1.5	3.5	5.5	0.25	0.75	0	0	0
$i\!\!=\!\!6,\!7$	2	0	0	0	1.5	3	0	0	0	2	4	0.04	0.06	0.9	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0	0	2	0.01	0.02	0.09	0.88	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.005	0.005	0.03	0.06	0.9
	0	0	1	2.5	3	4.5	0	2.5	4	6	7	1	0	0	0	0
i=8	1	0	0	1.5	2	3.5	0	0	1.5	3.5	4.5	0.1	0.9	0	0	0
	2	0	0	0	0.5	2	0	0	0	2	3	0.06	0.08	0.86	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0	0	1	0.005	0.015	0.05	0.93	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.003	0.006	0.01	0.05	0.931

Table 4.2 Component characteristics

		Г	ime	(tim	e uni	its)	0	Cost	(cost	t unit	ts)		\mathbf{P}_{1}	robabil	ity	
	state	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4
	0	0	2	4	5	6.5	0	3	5	7	11	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	2	3	4.5	0	0	2	4	8	0.1	0.9	0	0	0
i=9	2	0	0	0	1	2.5	0	0	0	2	6	0.03	0.06	0.91	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0	0	4	0.005	0.02	0.1	0.875	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.001	0.002	0.05	0.12	0.827
	0	0	1.5	4	5	6	0	2	5	7	10	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	2.5	3.5	4.5	0	0	3	5	8	0.2	0.8	0	0	0
$i\!\!=\!\!10$	2	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	2	5	0.02	0.05	0.93	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	3	0.002	0.015	0.12	0.863	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.001	0.013	0.056	0.08	0.85
	0	0	1.5	3	4	5	0	2	5	7	9	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	1.5	2.5	3.5	0	0	3	5	7	0.15	0.85	0	0	0
i = 11	2	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0	2	4	0.03	0.05	0.92	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	2	0.008	0.015	0.02	0.957	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.001	0.006	0.023	0.1	0.87
	0	0	1	3	5	6.5	0	2.5	6	9	12	1	0	0	0	0
	1	0	0	2	4	5.5	0	0	3.5	6.5	9.5	0.25	0.75	0	0	0
i=12	2	0	0	0	2	3.5	0	0	0	3	6	0.02	0.12	0.86	0	0
	3	0	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0	0	3	0.01	0.08	0.1	0.81	0
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.005	0.01	0.065	0.11	0.81

Table 4.3 Disassembly time (time units)

Node	A	B	C	D	E	F	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
t_i^d	2	1	2.5	1.2	1.6	1.5	1.2	2.4	2	1.5	2	1	1	2.5	1.5	1	1.8	2.5

Table 4.4 Input data on cost, time, and required working level of the system

$C \\ (Budgeted \\ cost)$	T (Break duration)	Δt (Time saving per component)	Δc (Cost saving per component)	c (Assembly cost per unit time)	d (Required working level)
75	50	0.5	1	1.7	2

Componnet $\#i$	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	B(d)
Entering state Y	1	2	0	3	2	1	2	3	2	2	1	3	$\mathbf{n}_{s}(u)$
Exiting state X (Strategy 1)	3	4	4	4	2	4	4	3	3	3	4	4	0.80997
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Exiting state} X \\ (\text{Strategy 2}) \end{array}$	4	4	4	3	4	4	4	3	4	3	4	4	0.87116

Table 4.5 Selective maintenance results in Example 4.2

From Table 4.5, it is seen that there are 10 components selected in both strategies. That is, whether structural dependence is considered (X) or not (X), 10 out of 12 components of the system are selected for maintenance. However, the set of selected 10 components in X is a bit different from the set in X. The resulting component states in X and X are not the same either.

In strategy 1, components 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 11, 12 should be maintained to their best state (state 4); components 1, 9, 10 should be maintained to state 3 and nothing is suggested for components 5 or 8. The projected system reliability at d = 2 is 0.80997 for this maintenance strategy.

Comparing X and X , there are 4 out of 10 maintenance actions, which are different in the two strategies. Component 4 is selected in strategy 1 but not in strategy 2, and component 5 is selected in strategy 2 but not strategy 1. Components 1 and 9 are both maintained to state 3 in strategy 1, but they are suggested to be maintained to their maximum state 4 in strategy 2. In general, maintenance strategy 2 recommends repairing components in the system to higher states than strategy 1 does. This result is because of ignoring the precedence relations between components. For example, strategy 2 recommends repairing component 5 but not component 4 while there is a directed edge from 4 to 5 in the precedence graph. In strategy 2, the resources for disassembly and maintaining this component are 6 time units and c t10.4 cost units. In fact, there is a tt csequence of assembly and to maintain component 5, we need to disassemble following a disassembly path {0, C, 4, 5}, i.e. sub-assembly C and component 4 need to be disassembled before sequentially component 5. It turns out tobe tt10 time units and c ttt $17.2 \operatorname{cost}$ units to ttcmaintain component 5 in actual condition. This omission results in more maintenance activities allocated to repair components to higher states in strategy 2 within the same available resources. Consequently, the estimated system reliability at the end of the next mission in strategy 2 is 0.87116, which is 7.55% overestimated compared to strategy 1. These results demonstrate that the maintenance planner may make an incorrect maintenance selection and over-estimate the system reliability when not taking the assembly sequence into consideration.

In terms of maintenance resources allocation, Table 4.6 and Figure 4.4 and Figure 4.5 show the time and cost elements for each strategy. The time and cost elements are broken down using Equations (4.12) and (4.13).

	Maint	enance	Asse	mbly	Sav	ving	Total		
Strategy	T_M	C_M	T_{d}	C_d	ΔT_s	ΔC_s	T	C	
Strategy 1	30	42.5	24.2	41.14	4.5	9	49.7	74.64	
Strategy 2	37.5	54.5	16.4	27.88	4.5	9	49.4	73.38	

Table 4.6 Resource allocation results in Example 4.2



Figure 4.4 Maintenance time in Example 4.2



Figure 4.5 Maintenance cost in Example 4.2

From these figures, the total maintenance time and cost and the time and cost savings are not significantly different for the two maintenance strategies. However, the repair time and cost spending for strategy 1 is significantly less than that for strategy 2, which implies that more improvement maintenance actions are suggested in strategy 2. This also explains the reliability gap between the two strategies. Another result that can be drawn from the figures is that the resources for disassembly contribute a considerable amount when disassembly precedence relation is considered. This result implies that ignoring structural dependence can lead to a mistake in resource allocation in the process of maintenance implementation.
The deviation of the system reliability between considering and ignoring structural dependence is investigated when the maintenance budget varies. To do this, constraint (4.15) is deleted and the optimization model is run repeatedly for different total maintenance budget, C_0 , varying from 30 to 100 cost units. The results on the system reliability are shown in Figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6 System reliability vs. total maintenance budget

An obvious result of Figure 4.6 is that the system reliability at the end of the next mission is overestimated when ignoring structural dependence. This matches the above explanations when examining maintenance strategies and resource allocation results. In addition, the gap of the system reliability estimation between the two cases of considering structural dependence and not considering structural dependence is bigger when there are tighter budgets. For instance, when $C_0 = 100$, the estimated system reliability for case 2 is 0.892, while the actual system reliability (case 1) is 0.871, down by 2.4%; and when $C_0 = 50$, the estimated system reliability for case 2 is 0.698, while the actual system reliability (case 1) is 0.508, down by 27.2%. This experiment indicates that the tighter the resource limitation is, the more severe the mistake caused by ignoring structural dependence.

4.5 Concluding remarks

A selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems with multi-state components and precedence relations of component assembly sequence is investigated in this chapter. We have formulated the relationships between components using a directed graph, and a backward search algorithm is proposed to calculate the total disassembly time for a maintenance scenario. The developed selective maintenance optimization model is to maximize the system reliability in the next mission under both time and cost constraints. The illustrative examples show that not considering structural dependence between components results in an incorrect maintenance scenario and an over-estimated reliability of the system in the next mission. This error is magnified when the resource limitation is more strict.

CHAPTER 5

SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE SYSTEMS WITH STOCHASTIC DEPENDENT COMPONENTS

In this chapter, we investigate the stochastic dependence (s-dependence) between multi-state components and its effects on the selective maintenance problem. S-dependence implies that the current health state of a component affects the state and degradation of other components. Since s-dependence relates to components' degradations, the system reliability needs to be evaluated for selective maintenance modelling. An approach based on stochastic process is proposed to evaluate the system reliability. We develop a cost-based selective maintenance model to maximize the total multi-state system profit, which includes the production gain and loss in the next mission as well as possible maintenance costs for the system. Versions of this chapter have been published as a conference paper [72] and a journal paper in IEEE Transactions on Reliability [73].

5.1 Introduction

In the literature of selective maintenance, the assumption of stochastic independence between components is frequently made. However, in a specific system design, the current health condition of a component may affect the performance of other components, and stochastic dependence exists in most real and complex systems. As stated in [74], the system reliability may be underestimated or overestimated when there is existence of s-dependence, and thus maintenance optimization for those systems needs to be thoroughly investigated. In the literature on selective maintenance, the selective maintenance model for systems with s-dependent components was studied in [31], [32], in which the components are binary and the failure of a component can cause other selected components to fail immediately. In these papers, the discussion on the effects of s-dependence on selective maintenance decision making was not investigated. In addition, the dependence relationship discussed in this study is a special type of s-dependence (type 1), which will be reviewed in the remaining part of this section.

In binary systems, s-dependence is often referred to as "failure dependence" or "failure interaction". In [75], failure interaction in multi-component systems is classified into two types, i.e. when a component fails: (i). it may cause immediate failure to the other

component (type 1), or (ii). it may cause damage by increasing the deterioration rate of the affected component (type 2).

In type 1 s-dependence, a component may fail and cause the other component to fail with probability p, or leave no effect on the other component with probability 1-p Many papers have provided maintenance analysis of systems with type 1 s-dependence, including component replacement policy [76] and block replacement policy [79]. Regarding type 2 s-dependence, Barros et al. [80] studied a two-unit parallel system where the failure of one component modifies the deterioration rate of the other component. A preventive replacement model was given to find the time of maintenance, T^* , that minimizes the failure and maintenance costs of the system. Lai and Chen [81] studied a two-unit series system where the failure of unit 1 causes damage to unit 2 by increasing the failure rate of unit 2 by a certain amount, while the failure of unit 2 will cause immediate failure of the system. Sung et al. [82] extended the two-unit system in [81] by introducing an external shock affecting both components. Albin and Chao [83] studied an *n*-component system in series where the deterioration of the first component changes the failure rate of all n-1 subsequent components. However, they did not discuss in details how the failure rate is affected. Rasmekonen and Parlikad [84] considered a system consisting of M parallel non-critical components feeding a critical component. Parallel elements are independent but the performance of the critical components decreases as a parallel component fails. Optimal preventive maintenance is determined to maximize the performance of the critical component.

Few efforts have been made on s-dependence existing in multi-state systems (MSS). Researchers so far have only focused on the reliability analysis of MSS with s-dependence. In [80] and [81], type 1 s-dependence is explored in MSS where the complete failure originating from a multi-state component immediately causes complete failures of other dependent components. In Levitin [87], the universal generating function approach is shown to be efficient to evaluate the reliability of MSS when the conditional probability distributions of the dependent components are explicitly known.

The discussion on s-dependence between multi-state components is still limited. Only type 1 s-dependence has been discussed for multi-state systems. In addition, existing maintenance models for binary systems with type 2 s-dependent components are restricted to 2-component systems or systems with two stages of dependent components. Therefore, the first objective of this chapter is to consider both types of s-dependence in an *n*-component multi-state series system. An approach based on the stochastic process will be used to evaluate the system reliability. Secondly, existing literature on selective maintenance has not taken both the costs and the profit associated with MSS performance rates into consideration. In this Chapter, both the production loss and gain corresponding to multiple working levels of the system and the maintenance costs are integrated into the selective maintenance cost model. To sum up, a cost-based selective maintenance model will be developed for multi-state systems with two types of s-dependence. The objective of the maintenance model is to maximize the total system profit considering resources and reliability constraints. The proposed selective maintenance model is expected to help the maintenance decision maker find the most economical maintenance strategy under reliability and resource constraints.

The remaining part of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 5.2 describes the MSS with two types of dependence. A method of reliability analysis for the system with s-dependent components is presented in Section 5.3. Selective maintenance policies and a cost-based maintenance optimization model are developed in Section 5.4. Illustrative examples, results and discussion will be presented in Section 5.5 and conclusion of this chapter is provided in Section 5.6.

5.2 Multi-state systems with s-dependent components

The multi-state system in this chapter consists of n multi-state components connected in series (Figure 5.1). Each multi-state component i can be in a state in a set of K+1possible discrete states, $S = \begin{bmatrix} K \end{bmatrix}$ The state k is associated with a corresponding working performance rate $g \ G \ g \ g \ g \ g$. The sets of state S and performance rates G are assumed in ascending order, i.e. $g \ g \ k \ l$.

At time t, the state of component i, denoted by s t is a random variable, s t S K. The performance rate of component i is denoted by g t and the probability that component i is in state k at time t is defined as in Equation (5.1). The system performance rate, G(t), is defined as the minimum performance rate of its components as in Equation (5.2). The system's state associated with performance rate G(t) at time t is $\phi(t)$.

$$p \quad t \qquad g \quad t \qquad g \tag{5.1}$$

$$G t \qquad Min \ g \ t \quad g \ t \qquad g \ t \qquad (5.2)$$

$$\phi(t) \quad Min \ s \ t \ s \ t \qquad s \ t \tag{5.3}$$

The state of the system and its performance rate can be determined by the combination of its components' states from Equations (5.2) and (5.3). The state probability of the system is:

$$P t t k G t g (5.4)$$



Figure 5.1 A series system with n components

In the presented MSS, there might be two types of dependence when a multi-state component changes its state as follows.

• Type 1 - Immediate failure dependence (IFD): when a component (influencing component) fails, it may cause immediate failures of some other affected

components. For example, a component fails and creates fire that causes some nearby components to fail immediately; or an electrical component fails and causes a voltage spike that triggers the failure of some other components in the system that do not have protective device.

Type 2 - Gradual degradation dependence (GDD): as the multistate component deteriorates with time and once it degrades to a lower working performance rate, it does not cause affected components to fail immediately but increases or decreases the degradation of the affected components. In our model, when a component degrades to a lower state, i.e., its output performance rate decreases, both the state and the degradation rate of the next component in the series system are affected. This dependence mechanism occurs when the components have direct connection to each other and the output of a component controls the load on the affected component. In a steam turbine generation unit, a system consisting of a water feed pump station and a steam turbine can serve as an illustrative example. This is a two-component series system by considering the water feed pump station as component 1 and the turbine as component 2. When the pump station works at its maximum performance rate of x (ton/h), the healthy turbine can generate its maximum power corresponding to x. When the pump's health condition deteriorates, the amount of water per unit time delivered to the next component (the turbine) decreases. This will result in a decrease in the degradation rate of the turbine due to the reduced load that the turbine needs to

handle, and for the same reason, the output performance of the turbine decreases too. Thus, we assume that both the performance state and the degradation rate of a component may be affected by the degradation of the influencing component.

The two types of dependence in multi-state series systems are represented in Figure 5.2.



Figure 5.2 Two types of s-dependence in a multi-state series system

In MSS, it is seen that type 1 s-dependence can be defined in the same way as in binary systems, i.e. the failure originating from a multi-state component can immediately cause complete failures of the affected components. In Figure 5.2, the red-dash arrows represent type 1 s-dependence relationship, e.g. the failure of component 1 can cause immediate failures (IFs) to component 3 and component N only. As stated in [76], a component may cause type 1 s-dependence failure with probability p, or leave no effect on the other components with probability 1-p. It is assumed that the influencing component can fail in two failure processes: one is its local degradation process that has no effect on

other components, and the other failure process, called induced failure process, that causes immediate failures of affected components.

On the other hand, type 2 s-dependence in multi-state context describes the "degradation dependence" of a multi-state component on the degradation of other components in the system. The transition rate between states of an affected component varies depending on the instantaneous performance rate of the influencing component. In MSS, the performance rate is often defined as productivity or capacity. In series systems, the input of a component is the output performance rate of its predecessor and the output performance rate of a component is the input of its subsequent component. Thus, type 2 s-dependence has a chain effect (green-solid arrows in Figure 5.2). Thus, a component i, i=2, 3, ..., n-1, can be both an influencing component to its subsequent components and an affected component from its predecessors.

In summary, the MSS with s-dependent components has the following characteristics.

- The system consists of *n* components connected in series.
- Some components in the system can fail in a failure mode that causes immediate failures of affected components (type 1 s-dependence). Once an affected component fails, it cannot cause IF to any other component in the system.
- Components may degrade to a lower working performance rate and it affects the degradation process of subsequent components by increasing or decreasing the degradation rate of the subsequent components (type 2 s-dependence).

• A component can cause both types of s-dependence and a component can be subjected to both types of s-dependence.

5.3 Multi-state system reliability analysis

5.3.1 Multi-state systems with independent components

As explained in Section 5.2, all components in the system degrade due to a local degradation process from the perfect functioning state to complete failure state. Without considering s-dependence, the probabilities associated with different states of a component i at time t due to its local degradation process can be represented by a set:

$$\mathbf{p} \qquad t \quad p \quad t \quad p \quad t \quad p \quad t \qquad (5.5)$$

Figure 5.3 shows the transition diagram that represents the degradation of a multi-state component without considering s-dependence.



Figure 5.3 Transition diagram of a multi-state component without s-dependence

In Figure 5.3, component *i* has K + possible states from perfect functioning (state*K*) to complete failure (state 0) with nominal transition rate from state*k* $to state <math>k - of \lambda_{ik}$. For simplicity, we assume that the sojourn time at each state of the component

follows the Exponential distribution, and the component degrades gradually, i.e. if the component is currently in state k, it will degrade to state k – before reaching a worse state k – . With these assumptions, the next transition of a component only depends on its current state, and the stochastic process governing the local degradation process is a Markov chain. The state probabilities can be determined by solving the Chapman-Kolmogorov (C-K) system of differential equations as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dp \quad t}{dt} = -\lambda_{iK}p \quad t \\ \vdots \\ \frac{dp \quad t}{dt} = \lambda_{k}p \quad t \quad p \quad t \\ \vdots \\ \frac{dp \quad t}{dt} = \lambda_{k}p \quad t \quad p \quad t \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

The last equation based on transition diagram is $\frac{dp-t}{dt} \rightarrow p - t$. However, it can be

replaced by $\sum_{k}^{K} p - t$ since the sum of all state probabilities of a component is always equal to 1. Further discussions on modeling the degradation of multi-state independent components can be found in [55]. Regarding the method to solve the system of equations, there are several methods including numerical and analytical methods. Here, we solve the system of equations using a method described in [88] analytically.

5.3.2 Modeling two types of s-dependence of components

• Type 1 s-dependence: In the system, we denote I as the set of components that can fail and cause IFs of other components and A_{-} as the set of components affected by the induced failure of component $i_{-}i \in I$. When component i_{-} fails, it will either cause all the affected components in A_{-} to fail with probability p, or leave no effect on these components with probability 1-p. As a result, an influencing component i_{-} may fail following two failure processes: local failure and induced failure. The first failure process is the local degradation process that does not affect any other components as described in Section 5.3.1. The induced failure process causes the affected components to fail immediately. In previous studies, the probability p is assumed to be a predetermined value, but in this chapter, the probability of induced failure from component $i, p_{-}t_{-}$, is defined as a function of time:

$$p \quad p \quad t \qquad \begin{pmatrix} t & \\ & s & ds \\ & &$$

Where λ_i^{IF} is the induced failure rate of component *i*. In this case, a state 0' is added into the set of states of the influencing component to represent the induced failure state related to type 1 s-dependence. The performance rates of influencing and affected components at state 0' are g_{i} . The state probability vector of the influencing component *i* takes the following form:

In Equation (5.8), p_{i} t is the probability that the influencing component i fails and causes IF. Thus, p_{i} t p t and p_{i} t k K is the state probability of component i in the case that it does not fail due to the induced failure process. We assume that the local and induced failure processes are stochastically independent, then:

$$p_{\mu\nu} t = p_{\mu\nu} t \qquad \left\{-\int_{0}^{t} \lambda_{\mu} \quad s \ ds\right\}$$
(5.9)

where $p_{\perp} t_{\perp}$ is the state probability obtained by its local degradation process which can be obtained from solving the system of equations (5.6).

The state probability distribution of an affected component $j \in A$ depends on the state of component *i*. We assume that an affected component *j* cannot cause immediate failure to any other component in the system. This also means that a component in the set of influencing components, *l*, cannot be affected by another component in the same set *l*.

If the induced failure does not occur, the state probability vector of component j is \mathbf{p} j t p t p t p t, where p t k = -K is the state probability of component j obtained by solving (5.6). If the induced failure of component i occurs, the state of component j is 0, i.e. \mathbf{p} ...,0. Thus, we have the conditional probability distribution of component j as follows.

$$\mathbf{P}_{j} = \frac{\left[\begin{array}{cccc} \left[p_{j} & t & p_{j} & t & p_{j} & t \end{array}\right] & \text{if no IF occur} \\ \left[\left\{ 1, 0, \dots, 0 \right\}, \text{ if IF from at least 1 influencing component occurs} \end{array}\right]$$
(5.10)

There is another way to explain Equations (5.9) and (5.10) in conditional probabilities by defining a stochastic process $\{s, t, t, t, j\}$ with a state space of $\{0,1, ..., K\}$ as the stochastic process governing the local degradation process. Another stochastic process $\{s, t, t, j\}$ with a state space of $\{0', 0, 1, ..., K\}$ is defined to represent type 1 s-dependence of influencing component i as follows.

$$s t = \begin{cases} \circ t & t & T \\ 0 & \text{if } T & t \end{cases}, \tag{5.11}$$

where T_i is the time to IF of component *i*.

For
$$0 \le k \le K$$
,

$$\begin{cases}
\Pr[s] t = k | T > t = s | t = k | T > t = s | t = k | t = p | t \\
\Pr[s] t = k | T \le t = s | t = k | t = p | t \\
\end{cases} (5.12)$$

Hence,

$$\Pr\left[s \ t = k\right] = \left[s \ t = k \ T > t\right] \qquad T > t = p \quad t \qquad \left\{-\int_{0}^{t} \lambda \quad s \ ds\right\}$$
(5.13)

The above equation (5.13) is the same as equation (5.9).

When k = ',

Similarly, we can define a stochastic process $\{s, t, t, j\}$ with a state space $\{0, 1, ..., K\}$ to represent the type 1 s-dependence for an affected component j as follows.

$$s_{j} t = \begin{cases} \circ t & s \ t \neq & i \in I & j \in A \\ 0, & \text{if } s \ t = & i \in I & j \in A \end{cases}$$
(5.15)

The above Equation (5.15) is equivalent to Equation (5.10).

• Type 2 s-dependence: Type 2 s-dependence exists when components have direct connection to each other and the output of the influencing components controls the performance of the affected components. In series systems, a component i, i = n -, can be both an influencing component to its subsequent component and an affected component from its predecessor. We assume that the degradation of component i, i > 1 depends on the output performance rate of its preceding component i -. When its predecessor i - is at the perfect functioning state, i.e. g - t - g, component i degrades at its nominal transition rate, i.e. the transition rate of the local degradation process $\lambda_{i,k}$. When component i - degrades and $g_{-} - t < g_{-}$, type 2 s-dependence between component i and its immediate predecessor is described as follows.

- The performance rate dependence: The performance rate of component i is automatically adjusted to the output of performance rate supply to it, i.e. $g \ t \ g \ t \ g$
- The degradation rate dependence: The transition rate between states of the affected component i, $\lambda_{ik}^{(d)}$ also depends on g_i t. We use $\varphi_i^{(\ell)}$ as a dependence function to describe type 2 s-dependence of component i on its immediate predecessor.

A power law with m_i being an exponent is used to represent the degree of dependence of component *i* on its preceding component. In general, the transition rate of an affected component may also depend on state k. If this is the case, the component type and state effect can be characterized by an exponent $m_{i,k}$, where $m_{i,k}$ represents the dependence of component i at state k on its preceding component. We assume that the performance rate associated with each state of a component is uniformly distributed and the dependence effects are equal for each state, i.e. $m_{i,k}$ can be considered as m_i for all k. In addition, the same methods of reliability analysis and maintenance optimization in the next sections can be applied for either case where m_i or $m_{i,k}$ is used.

5.3.3 The system reliability

In this section, we analyze the system reliability when both types of dependence exist. To calculate the system reliability, the system state probabilities is first obtained using a Markov analysis for the system with type 2 *s*-dependence. Then, type 1 *s*-dependence is incorporated using the law of total probability based on the event that an immediate failure occurs.

5.3.3.1 Markov analysis for MSS with type 2 s-dependence

In Type 2 s-dependence, we see that the degradation of a component i, i > 1, depends not only on its current state but also on the state of its immediate predecessor. If we consider simultaneously the state of component i and the state of its immediate predecessor at the same time, the degradation of the subsystem of components i - 1 and i can be modeled as a Markov chain.

To illustrate the Type 2 s-dependence as a Markov chain, we take an example of 2 components connected in series, wherein each component's state space is $\{0, 1, 2, ..., K\}$. Although the series system state can be represented as min s s K, we denote the system state as a pair of $\begin{pmatrix} s & s \end{pmatrix}$. Since the state of component 2 is always less than or equal to the state of component 1, the system state space is .,(1,0),(0,0) . With this notation, the system states denoted by (k, $\{(K K K K K)$ k-1) and (k-1, k-1) are considered to be different although the output performance of the system is identical. The first element in system state $(s \ s$ determines the state and the associated output performance rate of component 1. The second element in the pair $(s \ s$ depends on the value of the first element. However, the stochastic process utilizing the pair notation is a Markov chain since the next state of the system in pair notation $(s \ s \ only depends on its current state.$ The stochastic process with the local degradation process is $\{(s \ t \ s \ t)\}$ with transition rates $(\lambda_{1,k} \ l)$. When type-2 dependence is introduced, the stochastic process is modified to $\{(s \ t \ s \ t)\}$ with additional requirements of $s_{1,k}$ $t_{1,k}$ and the transition rates of $\left(\lambda_{1,k}\right)^{d}$ $K_{\rm c} l_{\rm c} k$ to represent type 2 s-dependence between the two components as $k \ l$ described in Section 5.3.2. The state transition diagram for the group of two components is shown in Figure 5.4.



Complete failure

Figure 5.4 Transition diagram of two components with type 2 s-dependence In Figure 5.4, type 2 s-dependence happens whenever the influencing component changes its state, which may result in state dependence and transition rate dependence. Transition rate dependence always happens when the influencing component changes its state, but state dependence occurs only if the transition of the influencing component causes its state to be less than the state of the affected component. For example, there are two transition paths from state ($K K_{\perp}$ to state ($K - K - \frac{1}{2}$, which are ($K K_{\perp} \rightarrow \frac{1}{2}$)

 $(K K -) \rightarrow (K - K -)$, and $(K K) \rightarrow (K - K -)$. In the first transition path, we can understand that there is no dependence in the first transition $(K K) \rightarrow$ (K K -). In the system state (K K -), the second component has its nominal transition rate $\lambda_{2,K}^{}~$. From this system state, when component 1 degrades from state Kto K - 1, i.e. the system state becomes $\begin{pmatrix} K - K - \\ \end{pmatrix}$, the transition rate of component 2 is modified to $\lambda^d_{2,K}$ g since the performance rate of component 1 has changed. Although state dependence does not take place, type 2 s-dependence still occurs in this transition in terms of transition rate dependence. In the second path, there is no transition from the state (K,K) to state (K-1, K), because when component 1 enters state K-1 the state of component 2 is instantly adjusted to K-1 and its transition rate is also adjusted to $\lambda_{2,K}^d$ g due to type 2 *s*-dependence. It is noted that state dependence only happens in the second path. This is because state dependence happens if the transition causes the state of the affected component to be greater than the state of the influencing component.

When any component degrades to state "0", the system is in complete failure state. In Figure 5.4, we can combine all such states with at least one component in state "0" as the "F' state or complete failure state. "F" is an absorbing state during the mission, i.e. no transition can happen further when the system is failed. The C-K system of equations for type 2 s-dependence is written as in (5.17).

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dP}{dt} t = -(\Lambda_{1,K} + 2 \kappa_{L})P + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -(\Lambda_{1,K} + 2 \kappa_{L})P + t & P + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{2,K}P + t & P + t & g + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & P + t & g + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & g + p + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + p + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda_{1,K}P + t & \frac{d}{dt}Q + t \\ \frac{dP}{dt} t = -\Lambda$$

In (5.17), the last equation can be replaced by $\sum_{k=1}^{K} \sum_{l=1}^{k} P_{l} t P_{l} t$ since the sum of all system state probabilities is 1. Since the system will degrade gradually from a higher state to a lower state in the next mission, the state (s_{1}, s_{2}) is lexicographically ordered in decreasing numerical order. With this order of the system state, the system of C-K equations can be rewritten in matrix form as [88]:

$$\frac{d\mathbf{P}}{dt} - \mathbf{P} \tag{5.18}$$

In (5.17), there are a total of f equations; f is the number of state combinations of all components in the system. Then, **P** is a row vector, $1 \times f$, and Λ is the transition rate matrix, $f \times f$. For Equation (5.18), we can write matrix Λ as:

It is noted that the sum of all elements in a column of matrix Λ is always equal to zero. Given **P** as a row vector of the initial condition, we can solve the system of C-K equations and determine the system state probabilities. The solutions to the system of equations (5.18) take the following form [88].

$$\mathbf{P} \quad \mathbf{P} \qquad V \tag{5.20}$$

where V is a matrix of eigenvectors of matrix Λ and D is a diagonal matrix with diagonal elements being eigenvalues of Λ .

When the system has more than 2 components, the components' states are grouped and denoted in a similar way. Each system state has to be denoted by *N*-tuple for an *N*-component series system. Markov properties and analysis for the system can be carried out similarly. The degradation of component *i* can be explicitly determined when the current states of the group of components $\{1, 2, ..., i \}$ are included in the system state. The next state of the system denoted by $\{s \ s \ s \ only depends on its current state.$ The state transition diagram and the system of C-K equations can be obtained similarly. The state space of the Markov model depends on the number of components and the number of health states of each component. We will discuss the state space of the system model and illustrate the complexity of the system model in this Section

Consider a system of n multi-state components with type 2 s-dependence. Each component may be in K+1 possible states. We use f_n n $K \ge -$ to represent the number of states of such a system with n components and K is the common maximum state of each component.

- When n = 1, i.e. the system has only one component, and we have: f = K
- When n = 0, the state dependence requirement dictates that $s \ge s$ where s_1 is the state of component 1 and s_2 is the state of component 2. Considering s_1 may take integer values from 0 to K, inclusive and s_2 may take integer values from 0 to s_1 , inclusive, the number of states of the system in (s s is then equal to

$$f \quad f \quad f \quad f \quad f \quad f \quad \frac{K}{2}$$

When there are n components in the system, there is a cascading dependence requirement such that $K \ge s \ge s \ge$ $\geq s \geq$. Using similar reasoning, we can find the number $(s \ s$ of states of the system in sas $f_{1} = \sum_{k=1}^{K} f_{1-k} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \binom{k}{i} + i}{i}.$

We can see that $f_{i} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \left(\frac{K}{i} + \cdot \right) \gg \left(\frac{K}{n} \right)$ and $\frac{K}{n} + \cdot > \cdot$. Thus, the number of system

states increases with the order of at least $O\left(\left(\frac{K}{n}+\cdot\right)\right)$ when $n\to\infty$ and $n\to\infty$. This

exponential increase in the number of system states limits the model for systems with large n and K values. In the future, more efficient methods for solving the system model need to be developed to handle the relationships between components in the proposed model.

5.3.3.2 Combining two types of s-dependence in system reliability analysis

When both types of dependence are considered, the stochastic process governing the degradation of each component cannot be defined individually since there is a chain effect in type 2 s-dependence from the first component to the last component in a series system. Thus, all components in the system are considered at the same time. The system state probabilities can be first obtained using the Markov analysis for the system with type 2 s-dependence as outlined in Section 5.3.3.1. Then, type 1 s-dependence is incorporated in the event that the system is in a failure state, which is caused when at least one immediate failure occurs.

type 2 *s*-dependence. The superscript refers to type 2 *s*-dependence and the subscript is the component in the system. Each *n*-tuple, $S_{-t} = s_{-t} s_{-t} s_{-t} s_{-t} s_{-t}$, exactly defines the state of the system and $\{S_{-t} t_{-t} \}$ is the stochastic process representing the system degradation due to type 2 *s*-dependence. Then, the stochastic process governing both types of *s*-dependence of the system is $\{S_{-t} t_{-t} \}$, where:

$$S \quad t = \begin{cases} \varsigma \quad t \quad s \quad t \neq & \forall i \in I \\ 0, \quad \text{if } s \quad t = & i \in I \end{cases}$$
(5.21)

In the system of equations (5.17), the state probabilities of the system are in the form of $P_{a,a,a}$ t. Given the initial state of each component in the system, the system of C-K equations can be solved using the method presented in [88] to obtain the state probabilities $P_{a,a,a}$ t. Denote $Q_{a,b}$ t as the probability that the system is in state k at time t without considering IF. We can easily transfer the system state probabilities $P_{a,a,a}$ t into $Q_{a,b}$ t K by applying Equation (5.22).

$$Q_{\perp} t = \sum_{\min s_{\perp} = k} P_{\perp} \quad t \tag{5.22}$$

When IF from component i happens, both influencing and affected components are in failed state, and the system is also in failed state. In addition, if a component is in state 0, IF failure cannot happen to the system. Thus, the state probabilities of the system considering type 1 s-dependence can be represented as follows. For k = 1, 2, ..., K,

$$P \ t = Q \ t \times \prod_{i \in I} p \ t , \qquad (5.23)$$

and

$$P_{i} t = Q_{i} t \times \prod_{i \in I} p_{i} t + \begin{pmatrix} -\prod_{i \in I} p_{i} t \end{pmatrix}$$

$$= Q_{i} t \times \prod_{i \in I} p_{i} t + \begin{pmatrix} -\prod_{i \in I} p_{i} t \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.24)

From (5.23) and (5.24), we can calculate the system state probabilities $P \ t$, for all k=0,1,2,...,K. The system reliability is the probability that the system can operate and satisfy a required demand D. Once the state probabilities $P \ t$ are determined, the system reliability can be obtained using a zero-one function, $\delta(G \ D \ .$

$$R t D \qquad G t \quad D \qquad {}^{K}_{k} P t \quad g D , \qquad (5.25)$$

where $\delta(g \ D \ \left(\begin{array}{cc} \cap \ if \ g \ D \\ 1 \ otherwise \end{array} \right)$.

5.4 Selective maintenance model

In our selective maintenance model, no repair action is allowed within a mission. During the next mission, if an IF happens or when a component degrades to a state that cannot satisfy the demand, the system is considered failed and the mission is failed. Thus, the maintenance decision maker must take the probability of successfully completing the next mission, i.e. the system reliability, into consideration prior to the start of the mission. The proposed maintenance model will optimize the maintenance decisions before a mission starts so that the system reliability is greater than or equal to a required threshold.

5.4.1 Maintenance actions on a multi-state component

In the selective maintenance problem, one needs to find the optimal combination of maintenance actions on the components when they arrive at the maintenance depot under the limited resources. Similar to Chapter 3, we denote Y and X as the states of component *i* at the time of entering and exiting the maintenance depot, respectively. It is assumed that the system is inspected at the time of entering the maintenance depot and the components' states are detected instantaneously, i.e. the state vector at the time of entering the maintenance depot is explicitly known. The maintenance actions do not worsen the condition of the component, i.e. $Y \leq X$. In general, multiple maintenance depot as follows.

- Do-nothing (DN): the current health state of the component does not change at the maintenance depot, i.e. X Y.
- Replacement: The component is renewed to the state "as good as new", i.e. state *K*.

• Imperfect maintenance (IM): $Y \quad X \quad K$.

In a selective maintenance modeling for the system consisting of multiple s-dependent components, it is necessary to consider the effect of s-dependence on the selection of maintenance activities. We take s-dependence between components into account by considering the following aspects when modeling the maintenance activities of components.

- At the maintenance depot, if the influencing component is in induced failure state, the maintenance action of its affected components is valid only when the influencing component is selected, i.e. when the affected component is selected in a maintenance strategy, the influencing component in type 1 s-dependence is also selected.
- Among maintenance actions for type 2 s-dependence components, the repair of the affected components cannot bring it to a state greater than the influencing component's state. Because of the state dependence between components, the repair action to bring the affected component to a state greater than the state of the influencing component requires more maintenance resources but does not improve the system reliability and stochastic degradation in the next mission in comparison with repairing the affected component to the state equal to the state of the influencing component.

5.4.2 MSS profit and cost evaluation

In this chapter, our aim is to build a cost-based selective maintenance model to identify the most economical maintenance strategy when s-dependence exists. To do so, we analyze the profit and costs for the system during the maintenance period and in the next operating mission, including:

- The system production gain and loss associated with its performance rate in the next mission.
- The maintenance cost in the maintenance depot.

5.4.2.1 The system production gain and loss

In MSS, the performance rate often represents productivity or capacity. Thus, the MSS production gain and loss are evaluated using the multiple output performance rates it can produce in the next mission. Let c_g and c_l be the average production gain and loss per unit of performance. It is assumed that c_g and c_l are given. This is a reasonable assumption since the values of c_g and c_l can be determined based on the sale price of a unit, labor costs, material costs and penalty per shortage unit in customer contracts in real operation context. The total expected system profit in the next mission is defined as the production gain, C_{PG} , minus the production loss, C_{PL} .

Production Profit = Production gain Production loss = C (5.26)

$$C = c = g = \frac{1}{0} P t dt$$
(5.27)

$$C \qquad c \qquad D \qquad g \qquad P \quad t \ dt \tag{5.28}$$

where $P_{\tau}t$ is the state probability of the system at time t in the next mission, τ is the next mission duration, and D is the demand level of the system in the next mission.

In multi-state systems, each state k associates with a performance rate g_k . In many practical applications, g_k is related to the output capacity of the system and we can say that at state k, the system produces g_k units of performance rate. For example, a multi-state power generating unit can produce several performance rates of 100 MW, 50 MW, and 0 MW corresponding to state 2, 1, and 0 respectively. Then, one unit of performance rate is 1 MW.

In Equation (5.27), the production gain, C_{PG} , is calculated for each unit of performance rate that satisfies demand $(g \ g \ D)$. It is a product of the average production gain per unit of performance rate, c_g , the output performance rate of the system at state k, $g \ g \ D$, and the expected probability that the system is in state k in the next mission,

 $\frac{1}{\tau} \int_{0}^{P} P t \, dt$. The production loss, C_{PL} , is calculated in a similar way but it is only counted

per unit of unsupplied demand $(D \quad g \quad g \quad D$.

5.4.2.2 Maintenance cost and time in the maintenance break

For each component *i*, an amount of $c \ Y \ X$ is required to repair it from state *Y* to state *X* in the maintenance break. If no maintenance action is performed on component *i*, i.e. *X* Y, $c \ Y \ Y$ When *Y* X *K*, the maintenance cost of maintenance actions on component *i*: $c \ Y \ X$ $c \ Y \ K$. The maintenance cost of a component *i* can be arranged in matrix form as in Chapter 3.

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c & & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \\ & & & & & \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K - & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \end{bmatrix} \quad i = n$$
(5.29)

The total system maintenance cost is the summation of maintenance costs of all components.

$$C \quad X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c \; Y \; X \tag{5.30}$$

Similarly, we define $t \ Y \ X$ as the time of repairing component i from state Y to state X.

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & t & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K \\ & & & & \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K - & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & \end{bmatrix} \quad i = n$$
(5.31)
123

When the components in the system are repaired one by one, the total system maintenance time can be obtained by taking the sum of all components' repair times.

$$T X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t Y X$$

$$(5.32)$$

In summary, the total system profit (cost) function is calculated from the start of the maintenance break to the end of the next mission as presented in (5.33).

$$C \quad C \quad C \quad C \tag{5.33}$$

5.4.3 Selective maintenance modeling and solution methodology

The objective of the selective maintenance problem is to find which components to be maintained and how to maintain them during the maintenance break given their conditions at the time of entering the maintenance depot. Thus, a solution of the selective maintenance is a combination of the states of all components at the time of exiting the maintenance depot. It is in vector form $X = \begin{bmatrix} X & X & X \end{bmatrix}$.

The selective maintenance problem can be formulated as a non-linear integer programming problem as follows.

$$Maximize \qquad C \quad C \quad C \quad C \tag{5.34}$$

Subject to
$$R X D R$$
 (5.35)

$$C \quad X \quad C \tag{5.36}$$

$$T X \quad T$$
 (5.37)

$$if X > then X > \forall j \in A$$

$$(5.38)$$

$$X X i N (5.39)$$

$$Y \quad X \quad K X \text{ is integer } \forall i \qquad N \tag{5.40}$$

The maintenance manager has to determine maintenance activities associated with each component to achieve the maintenance objective of maximizing the total profit of the system during the whole next mission under limitation of time and budget for maintenance as well as maintaining the requirement of the system reliability in the next operating mission. The objective function is to maximize the total multi-state system profit, which is equal to the production gain in the next mission minus the production loss and minus the maintenance cost. Each element in the cost function, C, is calculated as in Section 5.4.2.

Constraint (5.35) indicates that the required system reliability in the next operating mission at demand D must be greater than or equal to a specified value R_0 . $R_1 X = D$ is calculated using the approach discussed in Section 5.3.3. Constraints (5.36) and (5.37) are two resource constraints, which indicate that the resources for maintenance must be within the available budget and time allotted within the break between the last mission and the upcoming mission. Constraint (5.38) describes type 1 s-dependence in the system:

an affected component j belongs to the set of components affected by component i, Athen component i cannot be in failure state if the state of component j > 0. Constraint (5.39) describes type 2 s-dependence in the system: the state of a component is less than or equal to the states of its predecessors. The decision variables, X_i , are components' states at the beginning of the next mission. Since the maintenance activities do not worsen the state of the components, X_i must be an integer value between Y_i and the maximum state K for all i = 1, 2, ..., n.

Similar to Chapters 3 and 4, we use genetic algorithm (GA) to deal with the non-linear selective maintenance optimization model.

5.5 Examples, results, and discussions

5.5.1 Example 5.1

This example is for illustrating the reliability analysis of MSS with type 2 s-dependent components. Consider a MSS consisting of 3 multi-state components connected in series with type 2 s-dependence as presented in Figure 5.5. Each component can be in one of four possible states, i.e. $S=\{0,1,2,3\}$ with corresponding performance rates in a set $G=\{0,1,2,3\}$. The nominal state transition rates are provided in Table 5.1 and dependent exponents m = m.


Figure 5.5 Multi-state system in Example 5.1

All components are as good as new at time t = 0, find the probability that the system can deliver at least at demand D = 2 in a mission time t = 1 year.

Component	Transition rate $(year^{-1})$					
(i)	$k{=}3$	$k{=}2$	$k{=}1$			
1	0.12	0.18	0.15			
2	0.09	0.15	0.05			
3	0.17	0.12	0.2			

Table 5.1 Components' transition rates in Example 5.1

Denote the system's state by a set of $(s \ s \ s$ with s_i being the state of component i, i =

1, 2, 3. The state diagram is constructed as in Figure 5.6.



Figure 5.6 Transition diagram of a 3-component system with type 2 s-dependence

In Figure 5.6, state "F" or "Failed" indicates that at least one component in the system is in state 0, i.e. complete failure state. Once a component is in state 0, no other components can degrade further in the mission. The C-K system of equations can be written as follows.

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dP_{a_{1,3}}}{dt} = -(\lambda_{1,3} + \lambda_{3,3})P_{a_{1,3}} t \\ \frac{dP_{a_{1,3}}}{dt} = \lambda_{3,3}P_{a_{1,3}} t \\ \frac{dP_{a_{1,3}}}{dt} = \lambda_{2,3}P_{a_{1,3}} t \\ \frac{dP$$

In Example 5.1, the size of matrix Λ is 11–11. The C-K system of equations can be solved with initial condition vector $\mathbf{P} = 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0$ using the method presented in Section 5.3.3. With t=1, we get:

P
 39 0.1192 0.0678 0.0940 0.0070 0.0029 0.0053 0.0039 0.0050 0.0090 0.0020

$$\Rightarrow$$
 P
 P

 \Rightarrow P
 P

 P
 P

 \Rightarrow P
 P

 \Rightarrow P

Hence, the system reliability at D=2 is:

$$\Rightarrow R D \stackrel{K}{\longrightarrow} P g D \qquad 839 \quad 0.2810 \quad 0.9649$$

5.5.2 Example 5.2

Consider a MSS consisting of 5 multi-state components in series with their dependence as presented in Figure 5.7. Each component can be in one of 4 possible states $S=\{0,1,2,3\}$ with corresponding performance rates in a set $G = \{0,1,2,3\}$. The nominal state transition rates and dependence exponents are provided in Table 5.2.



Figure 5.7 MSS in Example 5.2

510 0.2 00mp	onento e			Manpie
Component	Transi	m_{\cdot}		
(i)	k=3	$k{=}2$	$k{=}1$	m_l
1	0.08	0.15	0.1	-
2	0.06	0.11	0.05	1
3	0.14	0.09	0.2	0.5
4	0.18	0.1	0.15	0.5

0.08

0.16

1

0.11

5

Table 5.2 Components' characteristics in Example 5.2

Components 1 and 2 may fail due to induced failure processes with $\lambda_1^{IF}(t)$ and $\lambda_2^{IF}(t)$ t. In the set I = 1, component 1 can cause components 3 and 4 to fail immediately, and component 2 can cause component 4 to fail immediately, i.e. A = -A = -1.

Upon arriving at the maintenance depot, the vector of components' states is $Y \begin{bmatrix} -\\ -\\ -\\ - \end{bmatrix}$, 1,1,0 $_$. The repair time (in days) and cost (in \$1,000) matrices of each component are given as follows.

The maintenance manager has to find selective maintenance actions to be performed on the system under the requirement and resource availabilities as given in Table 5.3.

The Markov analysis for the system is performed by denoting the state of the system by

(s s s s s s . We enumerate all states of the system including (3,3,3,3,3), (3,3,3,3,2), (3,3,3,2,2), (3,3,2,2,2), (3,2,2,2,2), (2,2,2,2,2), (3,3,3,3,1), (3,3,3,2,1), (3,3,2,2,1), (3,2,2,2,1), (2,2,2,2,1), (3,3,3,1,1), (3,3,2,1,1), (3,3,1,1,1), (3,2,2,1,1), (3,2,1,1,1), (3,1,1,1,1), (2,2,2,1,1), (2,2,1,1,1), (2,1,1,1,1), (1,1,1,1,1), and state F denoting the complete failure state of the system. The reliability analysis is done in the same way as in Example 5.1.

 C_{θ} T_{θ} τ c_{g} c_l R_0 D(\$10,000)(\$10,000)(years) (\$1,000)(days) 20500.8520.54012

Table 5.3 The system information and resource availabilities

Using the given input data, we code and solve the selective maintenance problem for the MSS in MatlabR2012a. Two selective maintenance scenarios for the system with s-dependence components are compared to the scenario where s-dependence is ignored, as presented in Table 5.4.

Maintenance scenario for the system with	X_1	X_2	X_3	X_4	X_5	C X (\$1,000)	T X (days)	R_D	C X (\$1000)
S-dependent components	3	3	2	2	2	38.5	12	0.85845	289.1
Independent components	3	2	3	3	2	39	12	0.90474	317.8

Table 5.4 Selective maintenance results in Example 5.2

In the first maintenance scenario, the system is subjected to both types of s-dependence.

The best maintenance strategy is to repair component 1 and 2 to their perfect functioning state and three other components to state 2. The expected profit for this maintenance strategy in the next mission considering the average production gain, loss and the cost of maintenance is \$289.1K.

We also investigate the effect of dependence in the system by solving the selective maintenance problem for the same system and assuming that the components degrade independently. The system reliability and cost elements can be evaluated using the same method but the induced failure rate and dependence exponents are all set to zero; constraints (5.38) and (5.39) are removed from the optimization model. The obtained result indicates that the best maintenance strategy is to repair components 1, 3, and 4 to their perfect condition and components 2 and 5 to state 2. It can be seen that the resources used in the maintenance break for this strategy are not much different from the strategies for dependent systems. However, the system reliability when components are independent is much higher, at 0.90474, i.e. 5% larger; and the total profit is also approximately 10% larger, at \$317.8K, in comparison with the independent case. Thus, we can conclude that ignoring s-dependence leads to another selective maintenance decision, and this may overestimate the system reliability and profit.

In order to investigate the differences between two maintenance scenarios in Table 5.4 in terms of cost and profit results, we examine the elements in the cost function as in Equation (5.30) for each optimal strategy. Figure 5.8 shows the profit and cost elements of interest.



Figure 5.8 MSS profit and cost analysis

In the two selective maintenance strategies, the costs for maintenance in the break when components are dependent and when they are independent are not much different. However, when components are dependent, the production loss is much greater (\sim \$20K) and the production gain is smaller. Thus, the total system profit is significantly different for the two cases. We can conclude that the two types of s-dependence have negative effects on the reliability and performance of the system. It is reasonable since the system reliability when components are independent is greater than that when components are s-dependent. When the probability of the system being in high states is bigger, it can result in a larger total profit. This result implies that ignoring s-dependence may lead to an optimistic estimation of the system profit.

5.6 Concluding remarks

This chapter studies the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems with multi-state s-dependent components. The two types of dependence relationships between components are discussed in multi-state context. Firstly, the induced failure of a multistate component can immediately cause complete failures of some other components. Secondly, as components in the system deteriorate, the degradation of a component reduces the capacity flowing to the subsequent components, thus affecting the degradation of these components. Both the costs and the profit associated with the MSS performance rates and maintenance actions of s-dependent components are taken into consideration. A selective maintenance model is proposed to maximize the total profit of the multistate system subjected to reliability and resources constraints.

The examples and results imply that s-dependence has a significant effect on the MSS reliability. Also, ignoring s-dependence may lead to a wrong determination of selective maintenance plans for the system and overestimation of the system performance. The selective maintenance model can help maintenance managers make the right decisions to maintain the system with available resources and under a system reliability requirement.

CHAPTER 6

OPTIMAL SELECTIVE MAINTENANCE FOR MULTI-STATE SYSTEMS IN DYNAMIC LOADING CONDITIONS

This chapter studies the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems working in dynamic loading conditions. In the next mission, the load can vary with time and the exact load on a component is not known with certainty. The degradation of a component is affected by the instant load applied on it and similar to Chapter 5, the system reliability evaluation is needed for selective maintenance modeling. We propose a load-dependent degradation model for multi-state components operating in dynamic loading conditions. This model is inspired by the load-sharing model where many components share a common workload and the failure rate of a component depends on the state of other components. A Monte-Carlo simulation method is used to model the multi-state component's degradation and to evaluate the system reliability. A selective maintenance model is provided to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission within available resources. Materials in this chapter have been published in a conference paper [89] and submitted to Reliability Engineering and System Safety [90] for possible publication.

6.1 Introduction

In traditional reliability and maintenance models, the assumption that a system and its components operate under a normal and stable condition is usually made. In practice, the system and its components operate in variable operating conditions, where the load and environment conditions vary with time, i.e. time-varying load. For example, the load on a power generation unit often varies depending on the time of the year and the time in a day. It can be higher in a hot day compared to a cool day, and it can be very high in the middle of the day and very low at midnight. The health of industrial devices degrades faster under a heavier loading condition and in a more severe environment.

The condition-dependent failure rate was first presented by Cox [91] in analysis of survival data in biostatistics. It was later brought to reliability and maintainability of a component in [53], [92]–[96]. When considering the time-varying load and its effect on component's degradation, two classes of variable loading conditions can be encountered. First, the load varies with time and the loading profile is explicitly known, i.e. deterministic load. Second, the load is totally dynamic, i.e. it varies with time and the loading profile is not explicitly known. The Weibull Cumulative Damage Model [92], the Proportional Hazard Model (PHM) [93], and the Accelerated Failure Time Model (AFTM) [53] has been used to model the load-dependent degradation of a binary-state component. While deterministic load was implied in [92], [93], dynamic loading was discussed in [94]–[96] to model the dynamic of operating conditions. In dynamic loading, stochastic processes were used to model the change between different load levels. Preventive maintenance was investigated in [94], [96], where two levels of operating environment, i.e. normal and severe conditions, were considered. One state represents the normal condition, and the other represents the severe condition. The hazard rate function jumps when the environment switches from one state to the other.

Selective maintenance has been a significant subject of interest among many researchers recently. However, the majority of the papers on selective maintenance ignore the effect of loading conditions on the degradation of components. Chen et al [97] performed a preliminary work on the deterministic load distribution and selective maintenance of multi-component systems. They jointly optimized the load to distribute and selective maintenance action to perform on each component in the system. The load on each component can be controlled and the component is assigned a fixed load during the next operating mission. In practice, load on a component may change during the mission due to the change of operating demand instead of being controlled.

One of the weaknesses of the existing models on maintenance of systems in dynamic operating conditions is that the condition is often divided into several discrete levels for easy modeling of the condition-dependent failure rate. Generally, the loading condition changes several times in an operating mission. In addition, the deterministic load does not accommodate the uncertainty of the loading conditions. For example, in many cases, we know the general load trend but not the exact load in the next operating mission. Another aspect is that the current modeling of load-dependent failure rate is limited to a binary-state component. A load-dependent degradation model for multi-state components in variable operating conditions with uncertainty is needed for MSS reliability analysis and maintenance decision making.

In this chapter, we will study the selective maintenance problem for a multi-state series system, which is expected to complete a mission of duration τ in dynamic loading conditions. The future loading conditions in the next mission are modelled by a known baseload function and a random variation following the Normal distribution. In the mission, the component's degradation depends on its current state and the load applied on it. A load-dependent degradation model is proposed for multi-state components working in such conditions. The analysis of components' degradations and the system reliability estimation are discussed. The final objective is to determine the best selective maintenance strategy to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission within available maintenance resources.

The remaining part of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 6.2 describes the system model and the dynamic loading conditions. Section 6.3 proposes a load-dependent

degradation model for multi-state components in such loading conditions. This model is inspired by the degradation of components in k-out-of-n load-sharing systems. A Monte-Carlo simulation-based method is presented in this section to model the component degradation and to evaluate the system reliability. A selective maintenance model to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission is presented in Section 6.4. Section 6.5 consists of an illustrative example and discussions. Concluding remarks for this chapter are given in Section 6.6.

6.2 The system model and the dynamic loading conditions

6.2.1 Multi-state system model

The multi-state system in this chapter consists of n multi-state components connected in series as in Figure 6.1. Each multi-state component i, i=1,2,...,n can work in K + possible states of K K - ,1,0, where K K - ,1 are operating states and 0 is a failure state.



Figure 6.1 A series system

In this chapter, the multi-state components are assumed to degrade gradually, i.e. a component, currently at state $k, k \ge 2$, will degrade to state k – before degrading

further to state k . In the next mission, the reliability of component *i* is defined as the probability that the component successfully completes the next mission, i.e. its state at the end of the mission is greater than or equal to a predefine minimum state level d_i , $1 \le d \le K$ The multi-state series system reliability is the probability that all of its components successfully complete the next mission. Detailed explanations on the multi-state component's degradation and system reliability analysis will be presented in Section 6.3.

6.2.2 Dynamic loading conditions

The multi-state series system is required to work in a mission of duration τ in dynamic loading conditions. In this chapter, we only know the general load trend but not the exact loading profile. The load on the system, L(t), comprises of a base-load profile $L_0(t)$ and a random variation ε_L . The base-load profile is a continuous function of time, which represents the expected load trend in the next mission. The random variation follows the Normal distribution with mean of 0 and standard deviation of σ_L , i.e. $\varepsilon_L \sim \ldots$, to reflect the uncertainty associated with the future loading conditions.

$$L t = L t + \varepsilon$$
(6.1)

An example of the variable loading conditions is given in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2 A loading condition example

Figure 6.3 shows an example of $L_0(t)$ and ε_L , which generate the variable loading conditions in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.3 Base-load profile (a) and random variation (b)

In such load conditions, a component's degradation rate at time t depends on the load applied on it. In addition, the multi-state component degrades in the next operating mission and its degradation rate depends on the component's current operating state. The dynamic behavior of the varying loads on the component's degradation and the state degradation of the component itself bring great challenges in reliability and maintenance modeling of such systems. We propose a load-dependent degradation rate model for a multi-state element in the system. Details on the load-dependent degradation rate of a multi-state component are presented in the next section.

6.3 System reliability analysis

6.3.1 Multi-state component degradation

Considering component i with K + possible states. The multi-state degradation model for this component is shown in Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.4 Multi-state component degradation

In the component degradation model in Figure 6.4, the component degrades gradually from state K_i to state 0. As mentioned in Section 6.2.1, $K_i K_{-}$ are all operating states and 0 is the failure state. We denote λ_i (t, s = K_i as the state transition rate or the degradation rate of component *i* at time *t* from state s_i to $s - \cdot$. The load and state dependent degradation rate of component *i*, $\lambda_i \ 't$, is proposed as in Equation (6.2).

$$\lambda_{is} t = sh t \qquad \theta L t s = sh t \qquad \left(\theta_i \frac{L t}{s}\right)$$
(6.2)

In Equation (6.2), L(t) is the load applied on the system at time t, θ_i is a positive exponent, and $h_i t$ is the baseline hazard function of component i. The proposed load-dependent degradation model implies that the degradation rate of a multi-state component at time t from its current operating state s_i to the next degraded state $s_i - ..., s_i = ..., K$, depends on both its current state and the load applied on it. The rationale of this model, inspired by a k-out-of-n load-sharing system, is to be presented in Section 6.3.2.

This model is an extension of the proportional hazard model (PHM) [98], which was used to incorporate the effects of environmental covariates on the failure rate of a binary component. The PHM represents the effects of the environmental covariates by an exponential term as in Equation (6.3).

$$h t Z t = h t \qquad \theta Z t \qquad (6.3)$$

where Z(t) is a vector of time dependent covariates, and θ is an exponent vector

representing the effect of the covariates. In our load-dependent degradation model, we have considered the load as a single covariate. We also assume that the degradation of a component in variable loads follows a model with the exponential based-line hazard function. Equation (6.2) can be rewritten as:

$$\lambda_{is} t = s \lambda \qquad \left(\theta_i \frac{L t}{s}\right), \tag{6.4}$$

where λ_i is a constant baseline hazard rate.

In order to develop a selective maintenance model for the system, we need to estimate the system reliability in the next mission with time duration τ and dynamic loading conditions. The reliability of component *i* is defined as the probability that the component successfully complete the next mission at a predefined minimum state level d_i , $1 \le d \le K$ or above. For series system, the system reliability is the probability that all the components in the system successfully complete the next mission at level d_i or above. The reliability of component *i* and the reliability of the system relates to the component's state probabilities as shown in Equations (6.5) and (6.6) respectively.

$$R_{1} t = s_{1} t \ge d_{1} = \sum_{k=d_{1}}^{K} s_{1} t = k$$
 (6.5)

$$R \ t = \prod_{i=1}^{n} R \ t = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \quad s \ t \ge d = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \quad s \ t = k$$
(6.6)

Here, we assume that the hazard rate of a component varies stochastically with the load and its current health state. During the operation of the system, the state of component i, $s \ t$, varies stochastically with time. In a stable and certain loading condition, one can develop a system of differential equations as in [6] to find the state probabilities for component i, $\Pr[s] \ t = k$. However, the future loading condition varies stochastically with time and the exact loading condition on the system is not known with certainty. The load-dependent degradation rate λ_i 't is a function of two random variables L(t)and $s \ t$, and the method in [6] is not applicable to determine the state probabilities. Thus, we use the Monte-Carlo simulation method to model the degradation of multi-state components and evaluate the system reliability in variable loading conditions with uncertainty. The description of the simulation method will be presented in Section 6.3.3.

6.3.2 Component degradation and failure of a k-out-of-n load-sharing system

This section explains the rationale of the proposed load-dependent degradation model for a single multi-state component in the targeted series system. The load-dependent degradation model is inspired by a case where many binary components share a common workload. The failure of a component results in an increased workload on the remaining working components [40], [99]–[101]. This section provides the similarities of a multi-state component degradation model in Equation (6.2) and the degradation of a 146 k-out-of-n load-sharing system.

Consider a system with K identical components sharing a common workload. The system is considered as functioning if there are at least d functioning components, (d-out-of-Ksystem). If each component in the system can be either in working or failure states, we define the system's state s(t) as an indicator of the number of surviving components. In load-sharing systems, if a component fails, the other working components will carry the system's task with an increase in the shared load until all components have failed. There will be K + possible states of K K - (1,0), and all states K K - (d + d) are functioning states. The d-out-of-K load-sharing system reliability can be written as in Equation (6.7), which is very similar to the reliability of a multi-state component in Equation (6.5)

$$R t \qquad [s t \quad d] \qquad \stackrel{K}{\underset{k \quad d}{\longrightarrow}} \qquad [s t \quad k] \tag{6.7}$$

A variable load L(t) is applied on the system. When the load is equally distributed among surviving components, the load applied on a surviving component $j \ j = -K$ is a function of the system load, L(t), divided by the total number of surviving components, s(t).

$$L_{j}t = \frac{T}{st} \quad \circ t \in K_{j} \tag{6.8}$$

If the hazard function of a binary component j follows a PHM model with the component 147

based-line hazard rate h_0 , and exponent parameter θ , it can be written as in Equation (6.9).

$$\lambda_{j}'t = h \ t \qquad \theta L \ t = h \ t \qquad \left(\theta \frac{L \ t}{s \ t}\right)$$
(6.9)

Since there are s(t) surviving components, the *d*-out-of-*K* system is a multi-state element with the degradation diagram similar to Figure 6.4. The degradation rate of the load-sharing system from state *s* to state *s* is $s \times \lambda_{r} t$, which is equivalent to the load-dependent degradation model for a multi-state component proposed in Equations (6.2) and (6.4).

6.3.3 Monte-Carlo simulation method for system reliability estimation

Monte-Carlo Simulation (MCS) method is a powerful tool for analyzing many systems in different areas. The MCS method is based on the generation of random numbers that is repeated many times in a computer model. Afterwards, the occurrence number of a specific condition of interest is counted [102], [103].

In this chapter, MCS is used to generate variable loading conditions which were discussed in Section 6.2. We generate N_L loading profiles. With each generated loading profile, the system reliability is estimated by conducting a series of experiments for its subsystems. We first define $p \ \Delta t \ s$ as the probability that the transition of a subsystem *i* from the current state s_i to state s - does not occur in the next small operating time interval from t to $t + \Delta t$.

$$p \Delta t s = x t + \Delta t = s x t = s = \begin{pmatrix} t + \Delta t \\ -\int_{t}^{t} \lambda & t \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.10)

where $x_i t_j$ is the state of component i at time t. In a very small interval $(t_i t_j + \Delta t_j)$, the load during the interval can be assumed to be $L_j t_j$. Since the transition rates of component i in that small interval Δt is determined by Equation (6.10), $p_j \Delta t s_j$ can be estimated as follows.

$$p_{\perp} \Delta t s_{\perp} = \begin{pmatrix} -s_{\perp} \lambda_{\perp} & \begin{pmatrix} r & t \\ 0 & s_{\perp} \end{pmatrix} \Delta^{t} \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.11)

In Monte-Carlo simulation, the transition probability is modeled by a random number, r_i , between 0 and 1. If r_i is greater than $p_i \Delta t s_i^-$, the transition occurs in the small interval Δt and vice versa. Whenever the transition is observed, the state of component i, s_i , changes and the transition probability needs to be updated according to Equation (6.11). The simulation runs for all components in the system consecutively. Starting from the initial states of all components at time 0, a simulation run stops if the state of any component reaches a state that is less that the minimum required state $d_i = -n$, i.e. a failure occurs.

The simulation is a continuous procedure for each interval until the time index t reaches the mission duration time τ . We repeat the simulation N times and record the state of the system at time $t = \tau$. A variable, *count*, is set to count the number of failures, and the reliability of the system can be estimated as follows.

$$R = -\frac{count}{N} \tag{6.12}$$

The Monte-Carlo simulation procedure is presented in Figure 6.5. The key of the simulation program is to generate random numbers following the Uniform distribution, r_i , and compare this number to $p \Delta t s$ to model the state transition of a multi-state component in the system. Three loops are nested in the procedure to simulate the dynamic loading conditions and estimate the system reliability in the next mission. The most inner loop is created by dividing the mission into several small time intervals Δt for the state transition simulation of each component. The middle loop is to simulate the system degradation N times for the system reliability evaluation. The outer loop is to accommodate the dynamic loading conditions by generating N loading profile as described in Section 6.2.2. The output of the simulation program is a vector, sized $1 \times N$, that stores all the expected system reliability values for N_L generated loading profiles.



Figure 6.5 System reliability estimation procedure using Monte-Carlo simulation

6.4 Selective maintenance model

The objective of the selective maintenance model in this chapter is to determine the best maintenance scenario for the multi-state series systems working in a mission under the dynamic loading conditions as described in Section 6.2.2. Let $Y \in K$ be the state of component *i*, and $\mathbf{Y} = Y$ be the state vector of all components in the system at the time entering the maintenance depot. It is assumed that the states of components at the end of the previous mission are detected and the vector of components states at the time entering the maintenance depot, \mathbf{Y} , is known. There is limited time and budget in the scheduled maintenance break, and all components in the system may not be maintained to their maximum state. We will present a selective maintenance model to determine a set of components and the associated maintenance actions to be performed in order to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission.

The system reliability in the next mission and the maintenance resource utilization in the maintenance break are important elements of the selective maintenance model. Let $\mathbf{X} = X$ and X be the vector of components' states at the end of the maintenance break. Since we know the state vector of components at the time entering the maintenance depot, the selective maintenance scenario is determined for each vector \mathbf{X} . With each vector \mathbf{X} , the system reliability in the next mission can be estimated using the Monte-Carlo simulation in Section 6.3.3. The maintenance resources are calculated for 152

each vector \mathbf{X} and this will be presented in Section 6.4.1. The selective maintenance optimization model will be presented in Section 6.4.2.

6.4.1 Maintenance resources

In the maintenance break, there are two types of resources to maintain the system, which are maintenance time and maintenance cost. Let $t \ a \ b$ and $c \ a \ b$ be the time and cost for repairing component i from state a to state b > a. Similar to Chapter 3, the repair time and cost of component i in the system from any state a to state b are arranged in matrix form as in (6.13) and (6.14) respectively.

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & t & & t & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K \\ & & & & \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & t & K - K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad i = n$$
(6.13)

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & c & & c & K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K \\ & & & & \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & c & K - K \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \quad i = n$$
(6.14)

We assume that the repairs of components are independent in this chapter. The total maintenance time and cost of the system in the maintenance break can be calculated using Equations (6.15) and (6.16) respectively.

$$T X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} t Y X$$
 (6.15)

$$C X = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_{i} Y_{i} X_{i}$$
(6.16)

6.4.2 Selective maintenance optimization model

The objective of solving the selective maintenance problem is to find an optimal set of maintenance actions to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission. This problem can be formulated as follows.

$$\mathbf{P:} \qquad Maximize \ f = R \ X \tag{6.17}$$

Subject to
$$T X \leq T$$
 (6.18)

$$C|X| \le C \tag{6.19}$$

$$Y_1 \le X_1 \le K \tag{6.20}$$

$$X \text{ is integer } \forall i = n \tag{6.21}$$

In the model, the objective function (6.17) is to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission, i.e. the probability that the system successfully completes the mission. Since the system operates in variable loading conditions in the next mission, the output of the Monte-Carlo simulation is a vector sized $1 \times N$ for N simulated loading profiles. The expected system reliability is calculated as the average of N values in the output vector of the Monte-Carlo simulation as in Equation (6.22).

$$\overline{R} \quad X = \frac{\sum_{n=1}^{N} R}{N} \frac{X}{\dots}$$
(6.22)

where $R_{\perp} = X$ is the obtained system reliability corresponding to the loading profile L_{\perp} .

In addition to the mean system reliability, we can calculate the standard deviation of the estimated reliability, σ_R , as in Equation (6.23). In the next mission, the system reliability is represented by a pair (R, where σ_R measures the variation of the system reliability in the dynamic loading conditions.

$$\sigma_{R_{\perp}X} = \frac{\sqrt{1} \sum_{n=1}^{N} R_{\perp}X - R_{\perp}X^{2}}{\sqrt{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} R_{\perp}X - R_{\perp}X^{2}}$$
(6.23)

In the optimization model, there are two constraints in (6.18) and (6.19) which restrict the total time and cost for all maintenance activities within the break duration T_0 , and total maintenance budget C_0 . The total maintenance time and cost of the system are calculated as in Section 6.4.1. The decision variables, X_i i = n, are the states of components at the time of exiting the maintenance depot. X is an integer between Yand the maximum state K_i for all i = N

6.5 Numerical example and results

In this Section, we consider a multi-state series system with n = 5 components as shown in Figure 6.6. The number of states of each component is given in Table 6.1.



Figure 6.6 The multi-state series system with 5 components

In the next mission, the system operates in variable loading conditions $L t = L t + \varepsilon$ in a mission with $\tau = 1000$ hours. The baseload profile, shown in Figure 3a, is given in Equation (6.24). The random load ε_L follows the Normal distribution with $\mu = 0$ and standard deviation $\sigma = 4.2063$.

$$L t = + t^{-} + t - t + -t$$
 (6.24)

The vector of components' states at the time entering the maintenance depot is $\mathbf{Y} = 1 \ 1 \ 2$. Parameters of the load dependent degradation rates, minimum state requirement, and maintenance resources for maintaining each component are given in Tables 6.1 and 6.2 respectively.

Component	i=1	i=2	i=3	i=4	i=5
Number of states	4	3	4	3	5
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Minimum} \\ \text{required state, } d_i \end{array}$	1	1	2	1	1
$\lambda_i (/{ m hours})$	0.0001	0.00012	0.0001	0.00001	0.0004
$ heta_i$	0.005	0.004	0.008	0.006	0.005

Table 6.1 Components' states and parameters in load-dependent degradation model

Table 6.2 Time and cost of repairing each component

		Maintenance Cost				M	ainte	enanc	e Ti	me	
		(in \$1000)					(in hours)				
Component	State	0	1	2	3	4	0	1	2	3	4
	0	0	5.5	11	16.5	-	0	12	24	36	-
. 1	1	0	0	5.5	11	-	0	0	12	24	-
1=1	2	0	0	0	5.5	-	0	0	0	12	-
	3	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	-
	0	0	5	10	-	-	0	8	16	-	-
i=2	1	0	0	5	-	-	0	0	8	-	-
	2	0	0	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	-
	0	0	6	12	18	-	0	9	18	27	-
÷ 9	1	0	0	6	12	-	0	0	9	18	-
	2	0	0	0	6	-	0	0	0	9	-
	3	0	0	0	0	-	0	0	0	0	-
	0	0	6.5	13	-	-	0	9.5	19	-	-
i=4	1	0	0	6.5	-	-	0	0	9.5	-	-
	2	0	0	0	-	-	0	0	0	-	-
	0	0	6.2	12.4	18.6	24.8	0	9	18	27	36
	1	0	0	6.2	12.4	18.6	0	0	9	18	27
	2	0	0	0	6.2	12.4	0	0	0	9	18
i=5	3	0	0	0	0	6.2	0	0	0	0	9
	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

6.5.1 Results on the system reliability estimation

In this section, the states of components at the beginning of the next mission is given as **X** _____ 2 2 3_. We built a Monte-Carlo simulation program in Matlab 2015b to investigate the results on the system reliability estimation method presented in Section 6.3.3 and test for N_{-} = variable loading profiles. The simulation was run on a computer with CPU Intel Core i7 processor, 3.60GHz, 16GB of RAM, and Windows 7 operating system. The results on the system reliability estimation for different number of simulation runs, N_{-} , from 100 to 1,000,000 are presented in Table 6.3.

$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{Number} \\ \mathbf{of runs}, \\ N \end{array}$	$R \mathbf{X}$	Standard deviation	${f Simulation}\ time\ (seconds)$
100	0.60625	0.055916	2.496
1,000	0.60383	0.01351	25.695
10,000	0.60487	5.178e-3	253.2052
100,000	0.60453	2.158e-3	$2.55\mathrm{e}{+03}$
1,000,000	0.60467	5.610e-4	$2.50\mathrm{e}{+04}$

Table 6.3 Results on the system reliability evaluation

In Table 6.3, besides the mean value of $R \ \mathbf{X}$, the standard deviation and the CPU time are also reported. It is observed that the standard deviation decreases when the number of simulation runs increases, i.e. the mean of the system reliability converges. Figures 6.7a and 6.7b show variations in the system reliability and standard deviation against the number of simulation runs $N_{\rm m}$ in log scale. The simulation time increases proportionally with the number of runs $N_{\rm m}$. The average system reliability with $N_{\rm m} = -000,000$ is 0.60467, which is considered to be accurate with a standard deviation of 5.61e-4. The simulation with $N_{\rm m} = -000$ can give the average system reliability accurately with 3 decimal places.



Figure 6.7 The mean system reliability (a) and standard deviation (b) versus number of simulation runs

To examine the effect of random variation of the loading conditions, we define the percentage of load variation as $p = \frac{\sigma}{L} \times ... \log_{\sigma}$, where σ_L is the standard deviation of

the random variation and \overline{L} is the mean load calculated from the baseload profile. Three levels of p_{-} , 2%, 6%, and 10%, are tested for this example with the number of runs $N_{-} = -,000$. The results are shown in Figure 6.8.



Figure 6.8 The mean system reliability and standard deviation at different levels of load variation

It is seen that the mean system reliability does not change much, roughly 0.0005, when the percentage of load variation varies. The system reliability variation agrees with the analysis on Figure 6.7 that the mean system reliability remains accurate up to 3 decimal places. On the other hand, the standard deviation of the system reliability increases significantly, approximately 0.0015, when the load variation changes from 2% to 10%. This implies that a large variation of the system reliability is predicted when the loading conditions are more uncertain.

6.5.2 Results on the selective maintenance optimization

In this section, the maintenance budget and time limitations are given as C = 000and T = hours. We need to find the optimal selective maintenance scenario for the system within the available resources. From constraint (6.19) in the optimization model, $Y \le X \le K$ i = n, and **Y** 1 1 2 and K = 2 3 2 4, there are a total of $3 \times 2 \times 3 \times 2 \times 3 = 108$ possible solutions for the selective maintenance optimization problem.

The system reliability is evaluated for each maintenance scenario. We built another program in Matlab 2015b to find the maximum average system reliability $R \mathbf{X}$. We also ran experiments for different numbers of runs N and observed that the optimal solution of \mathbf{X} converges for this specific example with N = -,000. The optimal maintenance scenario is presented in Table 6.4.

Component i	i=1	$oldsymbol{i}=2$	$i=\!3$	i=4	i=5
$\begin{array}{c c} \textbf{Entering} \\ \textbf{state} \ Y_i \end{array}$	1	1	1	1	2
$\begin{array}{c} \textbf{Exiting state} \\ X_i \end{array}$	2	2	3	1	3
Maintenance actions	$1 \rightarrow 2$	$1 \rightarrow 2$	$1 \rightarrow 3$	DN^*	$2 \rightarrow 3$

Table 6.4 The optimal selective maintenance scenario with C = 000, T = hours

DN = Do nothing

The maintenance scenario indicates that imperfect repairs are suggested for components 1 and 5 to their intermediate states 2 and 3 respectively; no maintenance action is recommended on component 4; and both of the two components 2 and 3 should be renewed to their maximum states K = and K = respectively. The vector of components' states at the time exiting the maintenance depot is **X** 2 3 1 3. For this maintenance strategy, the average system reliability is 0.858 and the total maintenance time and cost are 47 hours ($< T_0 =$ 48 hours) and \$28,700 ($< C_0 =$ \$30,000). The system reliability and maintenance resources consumption are shown in Table 6.5.

Table 6.5 The system reliability and maintenance resources consumption

Ave. Reliability $R \mathbf{X}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Total Cost} \\ C \mathbf{X} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Total Time} \\ T \ \mathbf{X} \end{array}$
0.858	\$28,700	47hrs

We also investigate the sensitivity of the maintenance budget to the system reliability estimations. The time constraint in the optimization model is released, and the budget limitation C_0 is set to vary from \$10,000 to \$50,000 with an increment of \$5,000. The system reliability in the optimal selective maintenance strategy for each case is plotted versus the maintenance budget as in Figure 6.9.

It is noted that the system state corresponding vector $\mathbf{Y} = 1 \ 1 \ 2$ is a failure state since $Y = \langle d \rangle = 0$. At least one maintenance action on component 3 needs to be performed to guarantee a functioning system at the beginning of the next mission.


Figure 6.9 The system reliability versus maintenance budget

For each level of maintenance budget, three values of the system reliability are presented, including $R \times R$, $Rupper \times K$, and $Rlower \times R$ min $R \times R$. The range of the mean system reliability is from 0.4661 when $C_0 = 10,000$, i.e. a single maintenance action to repair component 3 to state 2 is performed, to 0.9199 when $C_1 = -000$, i.e. all components are repaired to their best state. The mean system reliability increases as the budget increases, but the improvement on the mean system reliability does not vary at the same rate as the budget increments. The mean system reliability is significantly improved when the budget increases from \$10.000(R =61) to \$15,000 (R =32), \$20,000 (R = $(99), \$ \$25,000 (R =24). and 30.000 (R =84). When the budget is greater than \$40,000, the system reliability improves at a much more slowly rate. Interestingly, when the budget increases from \$35,000 to \$40,000, there is no improvement on the system reliability, i.e. the same optimal maintenance strategy is suggested. The range between R upper and R lower for different levels of budget is reasonably stable and it tends to be a bit smaller when more budget is allowed. The sensitivity analysis can help maintenance managers consider the trade-off between the system reliability improvement and maintenance budget spending. This chart is also useful in a situation where a plan is needed for maintenance resource allocation while an expected system reliability in the next mission is required.

6.6 Concluding remarks

In summary, this chapter investigates the selective maintenance problem for multi-state series systems working in dynamic loading conditions. The future loading profile is not known with certainty. We present a load-dependent degradation model for multi-state components operating in variable loading conditions. During the next mission, the load-dependent degradation rate of a multi-state component varies depending on its current state and the instant load applied on it. The model can capture the dynamic behavior of components in a k-out-of-n load-sharing system, where many components share a common work-load and the failure rate of a component depends on the state of other components.

The system reliability is estimated using the Monte-Carlo simulation method. A selective maintenance optimization model to maximize the expected system reliability in the next mission is presented. The sensitivity analysis of the optimized system reliability against various levels of budget limitation indicates that the mean system reliability varies at a different rate of the budget increments while the standard deviation of the system reliability is quite stable at various budget levels.

CHAPTER 7

SUMMARY AND FUTURE WORK

7.1 Summary

Engineering systems today are more and more complex and their failures are critical since they often involve several complicated interactions between elements, hardware, software, and operating conditions. Industrial organizations require their systems to be managed effectively with limited expenses to accommodate the global market competitiveness. Selective maintenance provides an optimal set of maintenance actions to perform on selected components to fulfill the system requirements within available resources. Selective maintenance is a powerful tool that can contribute to industrial organizations by keeping their operation safely and utilizing their resources effectively.

This PhD dissertation investigates the selective maintenance problem for multi-state systems considering dependence relationships when maintaining the systems. This research has significant contributions in terms of dependence modelling, reliability analysis, and selective maintenance optimization of multi-state systems.

7.1.1 Dependence modelling

In this thesis, four types of dependence in the maintenance of multi-state systems are modelled including economic, structural, stochastic, and operational dependence. Economic and structural dependence represent the relationships between maintenance actions; stochastic dependence demonstrates the relationships between components' lifetimes; while operational dependence refers to the relationship between components' degradation and operating environment.

Firstly, we modelled the dependence relationships between maintenance actions by economic and structural dependence. Economic dependence reflects the savings due to the share of resources when maintaining several components simultaneously, e.g. materials, tool, manpower, etc. Two mechanisms of savings in maintaining several identical and non-identical components were modelled and they applied to both types of resources of maintenance cost and time. Structural dependence implies that extra cost is required when maintaining the system since there is a sequence of assembling and disassembling components. We used the directed graph to model the precedence relations in the disassembly sequence of components and presented a backward search algorithm to find the disassembly path for the system. Secondly, the relationship between components' lifetimes was modelled. Two types of stochastic dependence between components were discussed in multi-state context. First, the failure of a component can immediately cause failures of some other components. Second, as components in the system degrade, the degradation of a multi-state component reduces the flow to the following components and thus affecting the degradation of these components. We used the power law to represent the relationship between the output performance rate of an influencing component and the degradation rate of an affected component.

Thirdly, the relationship between multi-state components' degradations and operating conditions was modelled. The dynamic future load on the system was represented as a known baseload function and a random variation following the Normal distribution. We considered a case where the degradations of components varied stochastically depending on its current state and the dynamic loading conditions. A load-dependent degradation model was proposed to model the transition between states of multi-state components. The model was based on the proportional hazard model and degradation of k-out-of-n load-sharing systems where the failure of a component increases the degradation of other surviving components in the system.

7.1.2 Reliability analysis of MSS considering dependence

When the dependence is related to the degradation of components, it is necessary to evaluate the system reliability prior to selective maintenance modeling. The methods for system reliability analysis were elaborated in the cases that s-dependence and operational dependence exist. In doing analysis of multi-state systems with s-dependence, we considered the states of all n components in the system together and presented the state of the system as an n-tuple including the states of n components. This practice allowed us to use the stochastic process to model the system degradation and evaluate the system reliability. In doing analysis of multi-state systems with load dependence, because the load is uncertain, a Monte-Carlo simulation method was presented to model the multi-state component's degradation and to evaluate the system reliability. In the Monte-Carlo simulation, we divided the operating mission into several small intervals and the dynamic behavior of a multi-state component, including changes of component's state and uncertain loading conditions, was captured in the Monte-Carlo simulation method.

7.1.3 Selective maintenance modeling

In Chapter 3, several selective maintenance optimization models for multi-state systems were generated. In these models, the total system maintenance cost, maintenance time, and the system reliability can be treated either as objective or as constraints. Depending on the principal purpose of the maintenance and available information, the maintenance decision maker can select the most appropriate models and thereby understand what actions should be done based on his/her on-hand conditions.

When dependence relates to maintenance implementation, i.e. economic and structural

dependence – Chapters 3 and 4, the relationships between components are reflected in the resource calculations during selective maintenance modeling. Either the savings due to joint maintenance of multi-components due to economic dependence or the precedence relations due to structural dependence were modeled in the total system maintenance time and cost calculations in the maintenance break. When dependence is related to components' degradations, i.e. stochastic and operational dependence – Chapters 5 and 6, the relationships between components were integrated in the reliability evaluation, which could be reflected in a constraint (Chapter 5) and in the objective function (Chapter 6).

In Chapter 5, we developed a cost-based selective maintenance model. This model provided an alternative approach in accordance with the multi-state system performance analysis. In the next mission, the system was assumed to produce a certain benefit or loss proportionally with the state it may be in. The objective function in this model was to maximize the total system profit, which considered both the maintenance cost in the maintenance break and the possible profit or loss related to the expected performance of the multi-state systems in the next mission.

7.2 Future work

From the work in this thesis, several research directions related to the complexity of the systems, methods for reliability analysis, and selective maintenance modeling are proposed for future studies. Details are as follows.

7.2.1 Study more complex systems

In this thesis, we have focused on the multi-state series and series-parallel systems. It is suggested that more complex structures such as bridge, k-out-of-n, network, etc. are investigated in the future. The dependence modeling from this thesis can be used to model the relationships between components in other system structures. However, it is noted that the inter-connection between components in a specific structure affects the system reliability, and the system structure function must be considered in evaluating the system reliability.

In a real and complex system, several types of dependence may co-exist. Except in Chapter 4, where economic and structural dependence were considered simultaneously, different types of dependence in this dissertation are treated separately. In our classification, the dependence can be related to maintenance implementation (economic and structural dependence) or component's degradations (stochastic and operational dependence). The models in this thesis can be extended to the case where a type of dependence related to maintenance implementation and a type of dependence related to components' degradations exist. However, other cases, such as where two types of dependence related to components' degradations or more than two types of dependence exist, still require further elaboration.

7.2.2 Study methods for reliability evaluation of multi-state systems with s-dependence

In Chapter 5, we proposed a reliability evaluation method for multi-state systems with s-dependence components. This method was based on the Markov process that had a state space increasing with an order of $O\left(\left(\frac{K}{n} + \cdot\right)\right)$. This method has limitations since

the state space explosion occurs when the number of components n and number of states K increase. Alternative methods for evaluating the system reliability with stochastic dependence are recommended for future investigations.

One of the methods that can be used for evaluating the MSS performance in the next mission is the Universal Generating Function (UGF) technique. UGF technique evaluates the multi-state system reliability by representing the state probability as a u-function and calculating the system's u-function from its components' u-functions [104].

The use of UGF technique can potentially reduce the computational effort to evaluate system reliability since it does not require solving a large system of differential equations as needed by the stochastic process approach. However, it is noted that the traditional UGF technique based on the traditional composition operator is only suitable for systems with independent components. To use this method for analysis of MSS with s-dependent components, an extended version of UGF needs to be developed. The following suggestions are provided when adapting the UGF technique for the MSS considering two types of s-dependence.

- *i.* A new composition operator should be developed to represent the degradation dependence relationship between components.
- *ii.* An alternative representation of component's u-function and/or a two-stage UGF may be needed to accommodate both types of s-dependence in multi-state systems.

7.2.3 Study selective maintenance in a finite planning horizon

This thesis focuses on the single-mission selective maintenance model. An underlying assumption was that the maintenance decisions were for the next mission. Thus, the current available resources for a single maintenance break and the system requirements in a single subsequent mission are input information. In a finite planning horizon, multiple missions are required to be scheduled and several breaks for maintenance can be possible; therefore, the selective maintenance problem in a finite planning horizon should be considered.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- T. S. B. of C. Government of Canada, "Lac-Mégantic runaway train and derailment investigation summary - Railway Investigation Report R13D0054 -Transportation Safety Board of Canada," 19-Aug-2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.tsb.gc.ca/eng/rapports-reports/rail/2013/r13d0054/r13d0054-r-es.asp.
 [Accessed: 05-Feb-2016].
- Railway Investigation Report R13D0054: Runaway and Main-Track Derailment: Montreal, Maine & Atlantic Railway, Freight Train MMA-002, Mile 0.23, Sherbrooke Subdivision, Lac-Mégantic, Quebec, 06 July 2013. 2014.
- [3] Staff, "Two years later: rebuilding after the Lac-Mégantic train derailment," Global News, 2015. [Online]. Available: http://globalnews.ca/news/2094045/two-years-later-rebuilding-after-the-lac-megan tic-train-derailment/ [Accessed: 04-Feb-2016].
- W. Kuo and M. J. Zuo, Optimal Reliability Modeling: Principles and Applications. John Wiley & Sons, 2003.
- R. Barlow and F. Proschan, Mathematical Theory of Reliability. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, 1996.
- [6] A. Lisnianski and G. Levitin, Multi-State System Reliability: Assessment, Optimization and Applications, vol. 6. World Scientific, 2003.
- B. Natvig, Multistate Systems Reliability Theory with Applications. John Wiley & Sons, 2010.
- [8] M. Nourelfath and D. Ait-Kadi, "Optimization of series-parallel multi-state systems under maintenance policies," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol.

92, no. 12, pp. 1620–1626, 2007.

- [9] M. Pandey, M. J. Zuo, and R. Moghaddass, "Selective maintenance modeling for a multistate system with multistate components under imperfect maintenance," *IIE Transactions*, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 1221–1234, 2013.
- [10] D. Kececioglu, Maintainability, Availability, and Operational Readiness Engineering Handbook. DEStech Publications, Inc, 2003.
- [11] A. K. S. Jardine and A. H. C. Tsang, Maintenance, Replacement, and Reliability: Theory and Applications, Second Edition. CRC Press, 2013.
- [12] D. I. Cho and M. Parlar, "A survey of maintenance models for multi-unit systems," European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 1–23, 1991.
- R. P. Nicolai and R. Dekker, "Optimal Maintenance of Multi-component Systems: A Review," in *Complex System Maintenance Handbook*, Springer London, pp. 263–286. 2008.
- [14] H. Pham and H. Wang, "Imperfect maintenance," European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 94, no. 3, pp. 425–438, 1996.
- [15] L. C. Thomas, "A survey of maintenance and replacement models for maintainability and reliability of multi-item systems," *Reliability Engineering*, vol. 16, pp. 297–309, 1986.
- [16] S. Wu and M. J. Zuo, "Linear and Nonlinear Preventive Maintenance Models," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 59, no. 1, pp. 242–249, 2010.
- [17] S. A and Y. G.s, "A literature review and future perspectives on maintenance optimization," *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp.

5-25, 2011.

- [18] W.F. Rice, C.R. Cassady and J.A. Nachlas, "Optimal Maintenance Plans under Limited Maintenance Time," in *Industrial Engineering Research Conference*, p. 1-8, 1998 (CD-ROM).
- [19] C. Richard Cassady, Edward A. Pohl, and W. Paul Murdock, "Selective maintenance modeling for industrial systems," *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 104–117, 2001.
- [20] C. Richard Cassady, W. Paul Murdock Jr, and E. A. Pohl, "Selective maintenance for support equipment involving multiple maintenance actions," *European Journal* of Operational Research, vol. 129, no. 2, pp. 252–258, 2001.
- [21] M. Pandey, M. J. Zuo, R. Moghaddass, and M. K. Tiwari, "Selective maintenance for binary systems under imperfect repair," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 113, pp. 42–51, 2013.
- [22] M. Pandey, M. J. Zuo, and R. Moghaddass, "Selective maintenance for binary systems using age-based imperfect repair model," in 2012 International Conference on Quality, Reliability, Risk, Maintenance, and Safety Engineering (ICQR2MSE), pp. 385–389, 2012.
- [23] M. Pandey and M. J. Zuo, "Selective maintenance considering two types of failure modes," *International Journal of Strategic Engineering Asset Management*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 37–62, 2014.
- [24] K. Schneider and C. R. Cassady, "Fleet performance under selective maintenance," in *Reliability and Maintainability Symposium - RAMS*, pp. 571–576, 2004.
- [25] T. Lust, O. Roux, and F. Riane, "Exact and heuristic methods for the selective

maintenance problem," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 197, no. 3, pp. 1166–1177, 2009.

- [26] Rajanand Rajagopalan and C. Richard Cassady, "An improved selective maintenance solution approach," J of Qual in Maintenance Eng, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 172–185, 2006.
- [27] I. Ali, Y. S. Raghav, M. F. Khan, and A. Bari, "Selective Maintenance in System Reliability with Random Costs of Repairing and Replacing the Components," *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, vol. 42, no. 9, pp. 2026–2039, 2013.
- [28] A. Khatab and E.-H. Aghezzaf, "Selective maintenance optimization when quality of imperfect maintenance actions are stochastic," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 150, pp. 182–189, 2016.
- [29] H. Zhu, F. Liu, X. Shao, Q. Liu, and Y. Deng, "A cost-based selective maintenance decision-making method for machining line," *Qual. Reliab. Engng. Int.*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 191–201, 2011.
- [30] A. D. Janjic and D. S. Popovic, "Selective Maintenance Schedule of Distribution Networks Based on Risk Management Approach," *IEEE Transactions on Power* Systems, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 597–604, 2007.
- [31] Maaroufi G., Chelbi A., and Rezg N, "A selective maintenance policy for multi-component systems with stochastic and economic dependence," presented at the 9th International Conference of Modelling, Optimization and Simulation, 2012.
- [32] G. Maaroufi, A. Chelbi, and N. Rezg, "Optimal selective renewal policy for systems subject to propagated failures with global effect and failure isolation phenomena," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 114, pp. 61–70, 2013.

- [33] K. Schneider and C. Richard Cassady, "Evaluation and comparison of alternative fleet-level selective maintenance models," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 134, pp. 178–187, 2015.
- [34] A Khatab, M Dahane, and D Ait-Kadi, "Genetic algorithm for selective maintenance optimization of multi-mission oriented systems," in *Safety, Reliability* and Risk Analysis, CRC Press, pp. 859–865, 2013.
- [35] L. M. Maillart, C. R. Cassady, C. Rainwater, and K. Schneider, "Selective Maintenance Decision-Making Over Extended Planning Horizons," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 462–469, 2009.
- [36] M. Pandey, M. J. Zuo, and R. Moghaddass, "Selective maintenance scheduling over a finite planning horizon," *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*, *Part O: Journal of Risk and Reliability*, pp. 1–16, 2015.
- [37] C. Chen, M. Q.-H. Meng, and M. J. Zuo, "Selective maintenance optimization for multi-state systems," in 1999 IEEE Canadian Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering, vol. 3, pp. 1477–1482, 1999.
- [38] Y. Liu and H.-Z. Huang, "Optimal Selective Maintenance Strategy for Multi-State Systems Under Imperfect Maintenance," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 356–367, 2010.
- [39] X. Zhou, K. Huang, L. Xi, and J. Lee, "Preventive maintenance modeling for multi-component systems with considering stochastic failures and disassembly sequence," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 142, pp. 231–237, 2015.
- [40] S. V. Amari and R. Bergman, "Reliability analysis of k-out-of-n load-sharing systems," in *Reliability and Maintainability Symposium*, 2008. RAMS 2008. Annual, pp. 440–445., 2008

- [41] M. Pandey, M. J. Zuo, R. Moghaddass, and M. K. Tiwari, "Selective maintenance for binary systems under imperfect repair," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 113, pp. 42–51, 2013.
- [42] C. D. Dao, M. J. Zuo, and M. Pandey, "Selective maintenance for multi-state series-parallel systems under economic dependence," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 121, pp. 240–249, 2014.
- [43] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "Selective Maintenance for Multi-state Systems Considering the Benefits of Repairing Multiple Components Simultaneously," in *Engineering Asset Management - Systems, Professional Practices and Certification*, P. W. Tse, J. Mathew, K. Wong, R. Lam, and C. N. Ko, Eds. Springer International Publishing, pp. 413–425, 2015.
- [44] R. E. Wildeman, R. Dekker, and A. C. J. M. Smit, "A dynamic policy for grouping maintenance activities," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 530–551, 1997.
- [45] K. Okumoto and E. A. Elsayed, "An optimum group maintenance policy," Naval Research Logistics, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 667–674, 1983.
- [46] Y. W. Archibald and R. Dekker, "Modified block-replacement for multiple-component systems," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 75–83, 1996.
- [47] D. Assaf and J. G. Shanthikumar, "Optimal Group Maintenance Policies with Continuous and Periodic Inspections," *Management Science*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 1440–1452, 1987.
- [48] M. Berg, "Optimal replacement policies for two-unit machines with increasing running costs 1," *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 89–

106, 1976.

- [49] R. Dekker, R. E. Wildeman, and F. A. van der D. Schouten, "A review of multi-component maintenance models with economic dependence," *Mathematical Methods of Operations Research*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 411–435, 1997.
- [50] R. Laggoune, A. Chateauneuf, and D. Aissani, "Opportunistic policy for optimal preventive maintenance of a multi-component system in continuous operating units," *Computers & Chemical Engineering*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 1499–1510, 2009.
- [51] F. Besnard, M. Patrikssont, A. B. Strombergt, A. Wojciechowskit, and L. Bertling,
 "An optimization framework for opportunistic maintenance of offshore wind power system," in *PowerTech*, 2009 IEEE Bucharest, pp. 1–7, 2009.
- [52] F. Ding and Z. Tian, "Opportunistic maintenance for wind farms considering multi-level imperfect maintenance thresholds," *Renewable Energy*, vol. 45, pp. 175– 182, 2012.
- [53] M. Nourelfath and F. Yalaoui, "Integrated load distribution and production planning in series-parallel multi-state systems with failure rate depending on load," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 106, pp. 138–145, 2012.
- [54] J. Xue and K. Yang, "Dynamic reliability analysis of coherent multistate systems," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 683–688, 1995.
- [55] S. H. Sheu and Z. G. Zhang, "An Optimal Age Replacement Policy for Multi-State Systems," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 722–735, 2013.
- [56] M. J. Anzanello and F. S. Fogliatto, "Selecting the best clustering variables for grouping mass-customized products involving workers' learning," *International Journal of Production Economics*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 268–276, 2011.

- [57] M. Y. Jaber, Learning Curves: Theory, Models, and Applications. CRC Press, 2011.
- [58] D. E. Goldberg, Genetic Algorithms in Search, Optimization, and Machine Learning. Addison-Wesley, 1989.
- [59] M. Affenzeller, S. Wagner, S. Winkler, and A. Beham, Genetic Algorithms and Genetic Programming: Modern Concepts and Practical Applications. CRC Press, 2009.
- [60] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "Selective maintenance of multi-state systems with structural dependence," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, submitted 2016.
- [61] R. Dekker, R. E. Wildeman, and F. A. van der D. Schouten, "A review of multi-component maintenance models with economic dependence," *Mathematical Methods of Operations Research*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 411–435, 1997.
- [62] L. C. Thomas, "Replacement of Systems and Components in Renewal Decision Problems," Operations Research, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 404–411, 1985.
- [63] Q.-S. Jia, "A Structural Property of Optimal Policies for Multi-Component Maintenance Problems," *IEEE Transactions on Automation Science and Engineering*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 677–680, 2010.
- [64] A. Van Horenbeek and L. Pintelon, "A dynamic predictive maintenance policy for complex multi-component systems," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 120, pp. 39–50, 2013.
- [65] J. H. Yan, Y. Y. Wang, and X. Zhang, "Genetic Algorithm Based Methodology for Optimal Maintenance Scheduling of Multi-Unit Systems," *Key Engineering Materials*, vol. 450, pp. 539–543, 2010.

- [66] R. Dekker, R. P. Plasmeijer, and J. H. Swart, "Evaluation of a new maintenance concept for the preservation of highways," *IMA J Management Math*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 109–156, 1998.
- [67] G. van Dijkhuizen and A. van Harten, "Optimal clustering of frequency-constrained maintenance jobs with shared set-ups," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 99, no. 3, pp. 552–564, 1997.
- [68] J. R. Li, L. P. Khoo, and S. B. Tor, "Generation of possible multiple components disassembly sequence for maintenance using a disassembly constraint graph," *International Journal of Production Economics*, vol. 102, no. 1, pp. 51–65, 2006.
- [69] S. Behdad and D. Thurston, "Disassembly and Reassembly Sequence Planning Tradeoffs Under Uncertainty for Product Maintenance," J. Mech. Des, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 041011–041011, 2012.
- [70] J.-G. Kang and P. Xirouchakis, "Disassembly sequencing for maintenance: A survey," Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture, vol. 220, no. 10, pp. 1697–1716, 2006.
- [71] S. N. Sivanandam and S. N. Deepa, *Introduction to Genetic Algorithms*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2010.
- [72] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "Reliability analysis of multi-state systems with s-dependent components," in *Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS)*, 2015 Annual, pp. 24–29, 2015.
- [73] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "Selective maintenance for multi-state series systems with s-dependent components," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, in Press, 2016, DOI:10.1109/TR.2015.2494689.

- [74] L. Cui and H. Li, "Analytical method for reliability and MTTF assessment of coherent systems with dependent components," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 300–307, 2007.
- [75] Y. Sun, L. Ma, J. Mathew, and S. Zhang, "An analytical model for interactive failures," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 91, no. 5, pp. 495–504, 2006.
- [76] D. N. P. Murthy and D. G. Nguyen, "Study of two-component system with failure interaction," *Naval Research Logistics*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 239–247, 1985.
- [77] D. N. P. Murthy and D. G. Nguyen, "Study of a multi-component system with failure interaction," *European Journal of Operational Research*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 330–338, 1985.
- [78] M. D. P. A. Scarf, "On the development and application of maintenance policies for a two-component system with failure dependence," *IMA J Math Appl Business Ind*, vol. 9, 1998.
- [79] P. A. Scarf and M. Deara, "Block replacement policies for a two-component system with failure dependence," *Naval Research Logistics*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 70–87, 2003.
- [80] A. Barros, C. Berenguer, and A. Grall, "Optimization of replacement times using imperfect monitoring information," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 523–533, 2003.
- [81] M.-T. Lai, "Periodical Replacement Model for a Multi-Unit System Subject to Failure Rate Interaction," Qual Quant, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 401–411, 2006.
- [82] C.-K. Sung, S.-H. Sheu, T.-S. Hsu, and Y.-C. Chen, "Extended optimal replacement policy for a two-unit system with failure rate interaction and external shocks," *International Journal of Systems Science*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 877–888, 2013.

- [83] S. L. Albin and S. Chao, "Preventive replacement in systems with dependent components," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 230–238, 1993.
- [84] N. Rasmekomen and A. K. Parlikad, "Maintenance Optimization for Asset Systems With Dependent Performance Degradation," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 362–367, 2013.
- [85] G. Levitin and L. Xing, "Reliability and performance of multi-state systems with propagated failures having selective effect," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 655–661, 2010.
- [86] G. Levitin, L. Xing, H. Ben-Haim, and Y. Dai, "Multi-state systems with selective propagated failures and imperfect individual and group protections," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 96, no. 12, pp. 1657–1666, 2011.
- [87] G. Levitin, "A universal generating function approach for the analysis of multi-state systems with dependent elements," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 285–292, 2004.
- [88] M. Amiri, F. Ghassemi-Tari, A. Mohtashami, and J. S. Sadaghiani, "A Methodology for Analyzing the Transient Availability and Survivability of a System with the Standby Components in Two Cases: The Identical Components and the Non-Identical Components," *Journal of Applied Sciences*, vol. 8, no. 22, pp. 4105–4112, 2008.
- [89] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "A Maintenance Model for Equipment Subject to Varying Loading Conditions." Industrial and Systems Engineering Research Conference (ISERC), May 2016.
- [90] C. D. Dao and M. J. Zuo, "Optimal Selective Maintenance for Multi-state Systems in Variable Loading Conditions," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*,

submitted, 2016.

- [91] D. R. Cox, "Regression Models and Life-Tables," Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological), vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 187–220, 1972.
- [92] G. Lanza, S. Niggeschmidt, and P. Werner, "Optimization of preventive maintenance and spare part provision for machine tools based on variable operational conditions," *CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 429–432, 2009.
- [93] M.-Y. You, H. Li, and G. Meng, "Control-limit preventive maintenance policies for components subject to imperfect preventive maintenance and variable operational conditions," *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 590–598, 2011.
- [94] X. Lu, M. Chen, M. Liu, and D. Zhou, "Optimal Imperfect Periodic Preventive Maintenance for Systems in Time-Varying Environments," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 426–439, 2012.
- [95] N. D. Singpurwalla, "Survival in Dynamic Environments," *Statistical Science*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 86–103, 1995.
- [96] L. XiaoFei and L. Min, "Hazard rate function in dynamic environment," Reliability Engineering & System Safety, vol. 130, pp. 50–60, 2014.
- [97] C. Chen, Y. Liu, and H.-Z. Huang, "Optimal load distribution for multi-state systems under selective maintenance strategy," in 2012 International Conference on Quality, Reliability, Risk, Maintenance, and Safety Engineering (ICQR2MSE), pp. 436–442, 2012.
- [98] D. Lin, D. Banjevic, and A. K. S. Jardine, "Using Principal Components in a

Proportional Hazards Model with Applications in Condition-Based Maintenance," The Journal of the Operational Research Society, vol. 57, no. 8, pp. 910–919, 2006.

- [99] H.-H. Lin, K.-H. Chen, and R.-T. Wang, "A multivariant exponential shared-load model," *IEEE Transactions on Reliability*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 165–171, 1993.
- [100] A. V. Suprasad, M. B. Krishna, and P. Hoang, "Tampered Failure Rate Load-Sharing Systems: Status and Perspectives," in *Handbook of Performability Engineering*, P. K. B. Misra, Ed. Springer London, pp. 291–308, 2008.
- [101] X. Zhang, R. Xiu, C. Chen, and Y. Liu, "Reliability assessment for multi-state systems under a dynamic load-sharing strategy," in 2013 International Conference on Quality, Reliability, Risk, Maintenance, and Safety Engineering (QR2MSE), pp. 367–371, 2013.
- [102] M. Takeshi, "A Monte Carlo simulation method for system reliability analysis," Nuclear Safety and Simulation, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 44–52, 2013.
- [103] E. Zio, "System Reliability and Risk Analysis by Monte Carlo Simulation," in The Monte Carlo Simulation Method for System Reliability and Risk Analysis, Springer London, pp. 59–81, 2013.
- [104]. Levitin, G. "The universal generating function in reliability analysis and optimization," *London: Springer*, 2005.